
Work Session - January 22, 2024        PAGE 1 

 

 

WORK SESSION 

TOWN HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

MONDAY, JANUARY 22, 2024 AT 6:00 PM 
 

HTTPS://US02WEB.ZOOM.US/J/84138774805 

 

AGENDA 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

DISCUSSION ITEMS 

1. Parks & Rec Salary Adjustment (Linda Gaddy) 

2. Road realignment updates (Travis Morgan/Chip Hill) 

3. Budget meetings schedule for Spring 2024 (Chris Tucker) 

4. Finance Report (Chris Tucker) 

5. Jack Hughes Park Expansion (Ryan Spitzer) 

6. Meeting Rules & Procedures (Ryan Spitzer) 

 

CLOSED SESSION pursuant to NCGS 143.318.11 (5) – acquisition of property 

 

ADJOURN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If you require any type of reasonable accommodation as a result of physical, sensory, or mental disability in order to participate in this meeting, 
please contact Lisa Snyder, Clerk of Council, at 704-889-2291 or lsnyder@pinevillenc.gov. Three days’ notice is required. 

1



                     TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

________________________________________________________ 

MEETING DATE:   

 
Agenda Title/Category: 
 

Reclassify Jobs in Parks & Rec 

Staff Contact/Presenter: 
 

Linda Gaddy 

Meets Strategic Initiative or 
Approved Plan: 
 

 Yes No If yes, 
list: 

 

 ▪ 

Background: 
 
 
 
 

There is currently only one classification 
for Parks Maintenance technicians no 
matter what their years of experience or 
certifications. No career ladder or 
incentives exist. 

Discussion: 
 
 
 
 

Council approval requested to add a 
Technician II and a Sr Technician job 
classification to the Pay Plan, plus 
approval to move existing qualified 
employees into those new classifications. 

Fiscal impact: 
 
 

$3705.00 next year in additional salary 
plus a slight increase in benefits 

Attachments: 
 
 
 
 

Reclassify Jobs in Parks & Rec details 

Current Classification and Pay Plan 

Three job descriptions  

Recommended Motion to be made 
by Council: 
 
 

 

 

2

Item 1.



Reclassify Jobs in Parks & Rec details 

Mayor and Council, 

There exists currently only one level of Park Maintenance Technician in our Job Classifications and 
Pay Plan. A Parks Technician will stay in that single pay grade until they reach the maximum pay of 
that grade. There is not room to move up into a more senior position that recognizes their years of 
experience and knowledge, or their job-related certifications. They also do not have incentive to 
strive for a promotion or obtaining a new certification, because there is not a career ladder that 
recognizes and rewards these. 

We have Parks Maintenance Technicians who have worked 9 or 10 years for us and plan to work 
many more, who between their time with us and their work with pervious employers in the same 
field, have accumulated about 20 years of experience and reached the top of the pay scale and 
have “topped out” on receiving annual merit increases.  

We propose to create two more grades of Maintenance Technician that will incentivize Techs to 
obtain additional certifications, as well as recognize their accumulated knowledge and experience. 
If approved, this will provide them with a “career ladder” to climb, and they will be able to continue 
to be eligible for annual merit increases for a few years longer in their career with us. 

Currently there are two Parks Maintenance Technicians that will be eligible to move to the new 
Senior position based on both years of experience and multiple professional certifications, but 
none currently eligible to move to the middle Tech II position. We expect a couple more to achieve 
the middle position in the coming years and hope they will all continue to achieve and move up the 
ladder over the years. 

 

Specifics: 

      Grade  Min  Mid  Max 
(Current) Parks Maintenance Technician   13 $32,944 $41,180 $49,416 

(new)  Parks Maintenance Technician II   14 $34,591 $43,239 $51,887 

(new) Sr.  Parks Maintenance Technician   15 $36,320 $45,400 $54,480 

 

Matches similar pay grades to equivalent Maintenance Technician positions in Public Works 

 

Fiscal Impact: 

If approved to be reclassified 7/1, next fiscal year will increase pay by a total of $3705.00 for the two 
eligible to be reclassified:   

$3705.00  in additional salary plus a slight increase in benefits (retirement contributions). If two 
more people move up from I to II in the following year, another $3000 increase in salaries. 

3

Item 1.



Revised 7/2015; 1/2019 Page 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Senior Parks Maintenance Technician  
Department: Parks & Recreation          FLSA: Non-exempt 

Reports to: Parks Maintenance Supervisor 

 

GENERAL DESCRIPTION  
Under the general supervision of the Parks and Recreation Director, the individual provides high quality grounds and landscaping 
maintenance, upkeep of all fields and keep them in immaculate condition.  The Parks Maintenance Supervisor will direct the 
work of the Parks Maintenance Technician    
 
ESSENTIAL JOB FUNCTIONS      
Responsible for overall maintenance and upkeep of the parks and grounds 
 
Maintains turf area; mows, aerates, fertilizes, seeds, removes weeds, re-sods and edges using equipment and tools such as 
mowers, weed eaters, blowers and various hand tools  
 
Plants and prunes trees, shrubs, ground cover and flowers 
 
Diagnoses turf and plant problems and implements control procedures  
 
Prepares and applies pesticides, fertilizers and soil amendments using tools such as sprayers and spreaders and maintain 
thorough records 
 
Drag and line ball fields according to the appropriate sport’s regulations prior to and between games as necessary 
 
Inspects park, playgrounds and recreation areas for hazardous and/or unsafe conditions and make necessary repairs or 
modifications  
 
Diagnose and perform light mechanical service on all equipment and report mechanical problems to supervisor  

Cleans and stocks restrooms and provides maintenance and repairs for the facilities 
 
Repairs and adjusts irrigation systems.  
 
Provides assistance to the Athletic Coordinator on the day of event with any request regarding maintenance of the facility 
    
Must coordinate efforts and establish good working relationship with Crew Leader, upper management and Parks and 
Recreation staff  
 
Attends training workshops and classes related to job duties 
 
Must be able to work a flexible work schedule that includes nights, weekends and holidays 
 

4

Item 1.



Revised 7/2015; 1/2019 Page 2 
 

Perform related tasks as required         
        
 
 
KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS AND ABILITIES 
Considerable knowledge of tools, materials and methods used in skilled, unskilled street, building and grounds maintenance 
work; working knowledge and skills in turf maintenance, grounds and landscaping maintenance; working knowledge and skills 
in carpentry, painting, plumbing, electrical repair, grounds maintenance and basic equipment repair; working knowledge of 
safety precautions; ability to understand and follow oral and written instructions; ability to use varied equipment required in 
performance of duties, ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with other employees, superiors and 
the general public.        
  
EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE 
Must have a High school diploma or G.E.D. equivalent and have 7 years of Direct experience in the parks maintenance field with 
the Town of Pineville. 
 
SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
Must have either a valid North Carolina or South Carolina’s driver’s license and be able to maintain a safe driving record 
 
Turf pesticide license required  
 
One additional Certifications IE. Certified Irrigation Technician, Aquatic Pesticide Applicator, Turf Degree, etc… 
 
Must keep all pesticide license up to date as required for the position     
 
Must keep all special licenses up to date as required for the position 
 
PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS    
Must be able to perform the basic life operational functions of climbing, balancing, stooping, kneeling, crouching, reaching, 
standing, walking, pushing, pulling, lifting, grasping, feeling, talking, hearing and repetitive motions  
 
Must be able to perform heavy work exerting up to 100 pounds of force occasionally and/or up to 50 pounds of force frequently 
and/or up to 20 pounds of force constantly to move objects 
 
Must possess the visual acuity to perform mechanical or skilled trade tasks of a non-repetitive nature such inspections, 
landscaping, operate equipment and machines   
  
Must be able to work in environmental conditions that require both inside and outside work  
 
Must be able to work in conditions that are subject to contact with potentially infectious bodily fluids    

 
 
Signed:  _____________________ 
 
Print Name:  _____________________ 
 
Date:   _____________________  

5

Item 1.



Revised 7/2015; 1/2019 Page 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Parks Maintenance Technician I 

Department: Parks & Recreation          FLSA: Non-exempt 

Reports to: Parks Maintenance Supervisor 

 

GENERAL DESCRIPTION  
Under the general supervision of the Parks and Recreation Director, the individual provides high quality grounds and landscaping 
maintenance, upkeep of all fields and keep them in immaculate condition.  The Parks Maintenance Supervisor will direct the 
work of the Parks Maintenance Technician    
 
ESSENTIAL JOB FUNCTIONS      
Responsible for overall maintenance and upkeep of the parks and grounds 
 
Maintains turf area; mows, aerates, fertilizes, seeds, removes weeds, re-sods and edges using equipment and tools such as 
mowers, weed eaters, blowers and various hand tools  
 
Plants and prunes trees, shrubs, ground cover and flowers 
 
Diagnoses turf and plant problems and implements control procedures  
 
Prepares and applies pesticides, fertilizers and soil amendments using tools such as sprayers and spreaders and maintain 
thorough records 
 
Drag and line ball fields according to the appropriate sport’s regulations prior to and between games as necessary 
 
Inspects park, playgrounds and recreation areas for hazardous and/or unsafe conditions and make necessary repairs or 
modifications  
 
Diagnose and perform light mechanical service on all equipment and report mechanical problems to supervisor  

Cleans and stocks restrooms and provides maintenance and repairs for the facilities 
 
Repairs and adjusts irrigation systems.  
 
Provides assistance to the Athletic Coordinator on the day of event with any request regarding maintenance of the facility 
    
Must coordinate efforts and establish good working relationship with Crew Leader, upper management and Parks and 
Recreation staff  
 
Attends training workshops and classes related to job duties 
 
Must be able to work a flexible work schedule that includes nights, weekends and holidays 
 

6

Item 1.



Revised 7/2015; 1/2019 Page 2 
 

Perform related tasks as required         
        
 
 
KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS AND ABILITIES 
Basic knowledge of tools, materials and methods used in skilled, unskilled street, building and grounds maintenance work; 
working knowledge and skills in turf maintenance, grounds and landscaping maintenance; working knowledge and skills in 
carpentry, painting, plumbing, electrical repair, grounds maintenance and basic equipment repair desired; working knowledge 
of safety precautions; ability to understand and follow oral and written instructions; ability to use varied equipment required in 
performance of duties, ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with other employees, superiors and 
the general public.        
  
EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE 
Must have a High school diploma or G.E.D. equivalent, 1-2 years of parks maintenance, landscaping or prior turf/golf course 
experience preferred 
 
SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
Must have either a valid North Carolina or South Carolina’s driver’s license and be able to maintain a safe driving record 
 
PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS    
Must be able to perform the basic life operational functions of climbing, balancing, stooping, kneeling, crouching, reaching, 
standing, walking, pushing, pulling, lifting, grasping, feeling, talking, hearing and repetitive motions  
 
Must be able to perform heavy work exerting up to 100 pounds of force occasionally and/or up to 50 pounds of force frequently 
and/or up to 20 pounds of force constantly to move objects 
 
Must possess the visual acuity to perform mechanical or skilled trade tasks of a non-repetitive nature such inspections, 
landscaping, operate equipment and machines   
  
Must be able to work in environmental conditions that require both inside and outside work  
 
Must be able to work in conditions that are subject to contact with potentially infectious bodily fluids    

 
 
Signed:  _____________________ 
 
Print Name:  _____________________ 
 
Date:   _____________________  

7

Item 1.



Revised 7/2015; 1/2019 Page 1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Parks Maintenance Technician 2 

Department: Parks & Recreation          FLSA: Non-exempt 

Reports to: Parks Maintenance Supervisor 

 

GENERAL DESCRIPTION  
Under the general supervision of the Parks and Recreation Director, the individual provides high quality grounds and landscaping 
maintenance, upkeep of all fields and keep them in immaculate condition.  The Parks Maintenance Supervisor will direct the 
work of the Parks Maintenance Technician    
 
ESSENTIAL JOB FUNCTIONS      
Responsible for overall maintenance and upkeep of the parks and grounds 
 
Maintains turf area; mows, aerates, fertilizes, seeds, removes weeds, re-sods and edges using equipment and tools such as 
mowers, weed eaters, blowers and various hand tools  
 
Plants and prunes trees, shrubs, ground cover and flowers 
 
Diagnoses turf and plant problems and implements control procedures  
 
Prepares and applies pesticides, fertilizers and soil amendments using tools such as sprayers and spreaders and maintain 
thorough records 
 
Drag and line ball fields according to the appropriate sport’s regulations prior to and between games as necessary 
 
Inspects park, playgrounds and recreation areas for hazardous and/or unsafe conditions and make necessary repairs or 
modifications  
 
Diagnose and perform light mechanical service on all equipment and report mechanical problems to supervisor  

Cleans and stocks restrooms and provides maintenance and repairs for the facilities 
 
Repairs and adjusts irrigation systems.  
 
Provides assistance to the Athletic Coordinator on the day of event with any request regarding maintenance of the facility 
    
Must coordinate efforts and establish good working relationship with Crew Leader, upper management and Parks and 
Recreation staff  
 
Attends training workshops and classes related to job duties 
 
Must be able to work a flexible work schedule that includes nights, weekends and holidays 
 

8

Item 1.



Revised 7/2015; 1/2019 Page 2 
 

Perform related tasks as required         
        
 
 
KNOWLEDGE, SKILLS AND ABILITIES 
Considerable knowledge of tools, materials and methods used in skilled, unskilled street, building and grounds maintenance 
work; working knowledge and skills in turf maintenance, grounds and landscaping maintenance; working knowledge and skills 
in carpentry, painting, plumbing, electrical repair, grounds maintenance and basic equipment repair; working knowledge of 
safety precautions; ability to understand and follow oral and written instructions; ability to use varied equipment required in 
performance of duties, ability to establish and maintain effective working relationships with other employees, superiors and 
the general public.        
  
EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE 
Must have a High school diploma or G.E.D. equivalent and have 2.5 years of Direct experience in the parks maintenance field 
with the Town of Pineville 
 
SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS 
Must have either a valid North Carolina or South Carolina’s driver’s license and be able to maintain a safe driving record 
 
Turf pesticide license required 
 
Must keep all pesticide and other licenses up to date as required for the position       
 
PHYSICAL REQUIREMENTS    
Must be able to perform the basic life operational functions of climbing, balancing, stooping, kneeling, crouching, reaching, 
standing, walking, pushing, pulling, lifting, grasping, feeling, talking, hearing and repetitive motions  
 
Must be able to perform heavy work exerting up to 100 pounds of force occasionally and/or up to 50 pounds of force frequently 
and/or up to 20 pounds of force constantly to move objects 
 
Must possess the visual acuity to perform mechanical or skilled trade tasks of a non-repetitive nature such inspections, 
landscaping, operate equipment and machines   
  
Must be able to work in environmental conditions that require both inside and outside work  
 
Must be able to work in conditions that are subject to contact with potentially infectious bodily fluids    

 
 
Signed:  _____________________ 
 
Print Name:  _____________________ 
 
Date:   _____________________  

9

Item 1.



.

Salary 

Grade Job Title

FLSA 

Status

Min. 80%  

MP Midpoint

Max 120% 

MP

11 Recreation Assistant  NE $29,881 $14.37 $37,352 $17.96 $44,822 $21.55

$0.00

12 Receptionist  NE $31,375 $15.08 $39,219 $18.86 $47,063 $22.63

$0.00

13 Customer Service Representative  NE $32,944 $15.84 $41,180 $19.80 $49,416 $23.76

Maintenance Technician  NE $32,944 $15.84 $41,180 $19.80 $49,416 $23.76

Parks Maintenance Technician  NE $32,944 $15.84 $41,180 $19.80 $49,416 $23.76

Storm Water Technician  NE $32,944 $15.84 $41,180 $19.80 $49,416 $23.76

$0.00

14 Senior Customer Service Representative NE $34,591 $16.63 $43,239 $20.79 $51,887 $24.95

Senior Storm Water Technician NE $34,591 $16.63 $43,239 $20.79 $51,887 $24.95

Apprentice Systems Technician NE $34,591 $16.63 $43,239 $20.79 $51,887 $24.95

$0.00

15 Billing & Collection Coordinator NE $36,320 $17.46 $45,400 $21.83 $54,480 $26.19

Administrative Assistant NE $36,320 $17.46 $45,400 $21.83 $54,480 $26.19

Police Records Clerk NE $36,320 $17.46 $45,400 $21.83 $54,480 $26.19

Accounting Technician NE $36,320 $17.46 $45,400 $21.83 $54,480 $26.19

Equipment Operator NE $36,320 $17.46 $45,400 $21.83 $54,480 $26.19

$0.00

16 Property & Evidence Technician NE $38,136 $18.33 $47,670 $22.92 $57,204 $27.50

Telecommunicator NE $38,136 $18.33 $47,670 $22.92 $57,204 $27.50

$0.00

17 Senior Accounting Technician NE $40,044 $19.25 $50,055 $24.06 $60,066 $28.88

Systems Technician NE $40,044 $19.25 $50,055 $24.06 $60,066 $28.88

Code Enforcement Officer NE $40,044 $19.25 $50,055 $24.06 $60,066 $28.88

Records & Accrediation Manager NE $40,044 $19.25 $50,055 $24.06 $60,066 $28.88

$0.00

18 Building Maintenance Technician NE $42,045 $20.21 $52,556 $25.27 $63,067 $30.32

Fleet Manager NE $42,045 $20.21 $52,556 $25.27 $63,067 $30.32

Assistant Telecommunications Supervisor NE $42,045 $20.21 $52,556 $25.27 $63,067 $30.32

$0.00

19 Athletic Coordinator  NE $44,148 $21.22 $55,185 $26.53 $66,222 $31.84

        Marketing & Sales Manager  NE $44,148 $21.22 $55,185 $26.53 $66,222 $31.84

Planning Technician NE $44,148 $21.22 $55,185 $26.53 $66,222 $31.84

Program Events Coordinator NE $44,148 $21.22 $55,185 $26.53 $66,222 $31.84

Special Events Coordinator NE $44,148 $21.22 $55,185 $26.53 $66,222 $31.84

Human Resource Assistant NE $44,148 $21.22 $55,185 $26.53 $66,222 $31.84

Budget Procurement Management Analyst NE $44,148 $21.22 $55,185 $26.53 $66,222 $31.84

Business Marketing & Management NE $44,148 $21.22 $55,185 $26.53 $66,222 $31.84

$0.00

20 Planner NE $46,354 $22.29 $57,943 $27.86 $69,532 $33.43

Public Works Crew Leader  NE $46,354 $22.29 $57,943 $27.86 $69,532 $33.43

Parks Maintenance Crew Leader  NE $46,354 $22.29 $57,943 $27.86 $69,532 $33.43

Telecommunications Supervisor Exempt $46,354 $22.29 $57,943 $27.86 $69,532 $33.43

Sr. System Tech/Assistant Tech Supervisor  NE $46,354 $22.29 $57,943 $27.86 $69,532 $33.43

$0.00

21 Crime Analyst NE $48,673 $23.40 $60,841 $29.25 $73,009 $35.10

Accountant Exempt $48,673 $23.40 $60,841 $29.25 $73,009 $35.10

$0.00

22 $51,106 $24.57 $63,883 $30.71 $76,660 $36.86

$0.00

23 $53,661 $25.80 $67,077 $32.25 $80,492 $38.70

$0.00

24 Town Clerk Exempt $56,345 $27.09 $70,431 $33.86 $84,517 $40.63

                 Town of Pineville Classification & Pay Plan   
  2023-2024

10

Item 1.



Central Office Database Technician NE $56,345 $27.09 $70,431 $33.86 $84,517 $40.63

$0.00

25 Network Database Technician NE $59,162 $28.44 $73,952 $35.55 $88,742 $42.66

Systems Tech Supervisor NE $59,162 $28.44 $73,952 $35.55 $88,742 $42.66

$0.00

26 $62,119 $29.86 $77,649 $37.33 $93,179 $44.80

27 $65,225 $31.36 $81,531 $39.20 $97,838 $47.04

28 $68,487 $32.93 $85,608 $41.16 $102,730 $49.39

29 Human Resources Director Exempt $71,911 $89,888 $107,866

30 Parks & Recreation Director Exempt $75,507 $94,383 $113,260

Public Works Director Exempt $75,507 $94,383 $113,260

31 Planning Director Exempt $79,282 $99,102 $118,922

32 Telecommunications Director Exempt $83,246 $104,057 $124,868

33 Exempt $87,408 $109,260 $131,112

34 Finance Director Exempt $91,779 $114,724 $137,669

35 Exempt $96,368 $120,460 $144,552

36 Exempt 101186.5 $126,483 $151,780

          Town Manager Exempt $122,715 $153,393 $184,072

11

Item 1.



Salary 

Grade Job Title

FLSA 

Status

Min. 80%  

MP Midpoint

Max 120% 

MP

Salary 

Grade

18

11 Recreation Assistant  NE $29,881 $37,352 $44,822

12 Receptionist  NE $31,375 $39,219 $47,063

19

13 Customer Service Representative  NE $32,944 $41,180 $49,416         

Maintenance Technician  NE $32,944 $41,180 $49,416

Parks Maintenance Technician  NE $32,944 $41,180 $49,416

Storm Water Technician  NE $32,944 $41,180 $49,416

14 Senior Customer Service Representative NE $34,591 $43,239 $51,887

Senior Storm Water Technician NE $34,591 $43,239 $51,887 20

Apprentice Systems Technician NE $34,591 $43,239 $51,887

15 Billing & Collection Coordinator NE $36,320 $45,400 $54,480

Administrative Assistant NE $36,320 $45,400 $54,480

Police Records Clerk NE $36,320 $45,400 $54,480

Accounting Technician NE $36,320 $45,400 $54,480 21

16 Property & Evidence Technician NE $38,136 $47,670 $57,204

Telecommunicator NE $38,136 $47,670 $57,204 22

17 Senior Accounting Technician NE $40,044 $50,055 $60,066 23

Systems Technician NE $40,044 $50,055 $60,066

Code Enforcement Officer NE $40,044 $50,055 $60,066 24

Records & Accrediation Manager NE $40,044 $50,055 $60,066

  2023-2024

                 Town of Pineville Classification & Pay Plan   

12

Item 1.



Job Title

FLSA 

Status

Min. 80%  

MP Midpoint

Max 120% 

MP

Salary 

Grade

Building Maintenance Technician NE $42,045 $52,556 $63,067

Fleet Manager NE $42,045 $52,556 $63,067 25

Assistant Telecommunications Supervisor NE $42,045 $52,556 $63,067

Athletic Coordinator  NE $44,148 $55,185 $66,222 26

Marketing & Sales Manager  NE $44,148 $55,185 $66,222 27

Planning Technician NE $44,148 $55,185 $66,222 28

Program Events Coordinator NE $44,148 $55,185 $66,222

Special Events Coordinator NE $44,148 $55,185 $66,222 29

Human Resource Assistant NE $44,148 $55,185 $66,222

30

Planner NE $46,354 $57,943 $69,532

Public Works Crew Leader  NE $46,354 $57,943 $69,532

Parks Maintenance Crew Leader  NE $46,354 $57,943 $69,532 31

Telecommunications Supervisor Exempt $46,354 $57,943 $69,532

Sr. System Tech/Assistant Tech Supervisor  NE $46,354 $57,943 $69,532 32

Crime Analyst NE $48,673 $60,841 $73,009 33

Accountant Exempt $48,673 $60,841 $73,009

34

$51,106 $63,883 $76,660

35

$53,661 $67,077 $80,492

36

Town Clerk Exempt $56,345 $70,431 $84,517

Central Office Database Technician NE $56,345 $70,431 $84,517           

                 Town of Pineville Classification & Pay Plan   

13

Item 1.



Job Title

FLSA 

Status

Min. 80%  

MP Midpoint

Max 120% 

MP

Network Database Technician NE $59,162 $73,952 $88,742

Systems Tech Supervisor NE $59,162 $73,952 $88,742

$62,119 $77,649 $93,179

$65,225 $81,531 $97,838

$68,487 $85,608 $102,730

Human Resources Director Exempt $71,911 $89,888 $107,866

Parks & Recreation Director Exempt $75,507 $94,383 $113,260

Public Works Director Exempt $75,507 $94,383 $113,260

Planning Director Exempt $79,282 $99,102 $118,922

Telecommunications Director Exempt $83,246 $104,057 $124,868

Exempt $87,408 $109,260 $131,112

Finance Director Exempt $91,779 $114,724 $137,669

Exempt $96,368 $120,460 $144,552

Exempt 101186.5 $126,483 $151,780

Town Manager Exempt $122,715 $153,393 $184,072

14

Item 1.



15

Item 2.



16

Item 2.



17

Item 2.



                     TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

________________________________________________________ 

MEETING DATE:  January 22, 2024 

 
Agenda Title/Category: 
 

FY25 Budget Calendar 

Staff Contact/Presenter: 
 

Christopher Tucker, Finance Director 
 

Meets Strategic Initiative or 
Approved Plan: 
 

 Yes No If yes, 
list: 

N/A 

  

Background: 
 
 
 
 

Each year, as part of the budget process, staff should 
present a budget calendar to lay out the timeline for 
Council’s budget engagements.   

Discussion: 
 
 
 
 

Please bring your personal calendars so we can confirm 
the dates for budget work sessions. The topics may 
move around based on staff availability, but we do need 
to establish dates of Council availability at this session. 

Fiscal impact: 
 
 

 

Attachments: 
 
 
 
 

FY25 DRAFT Budget Calendar 

Recommended Motion to be made 
by Council: 
 
 

No Formal Action; Direct Staff and Clerk to confirm work 
session dates and times 

 

18

Item 3.



 
 

 

Town of Pineville 

FY25 Council DRAFT Budget Calendar 

 

February 6, 2024 – Budget Workshop Session   

• Review Funds and Budget Process; Discuss Priorities and Pressures 

 

March / April 2024 – Budget Workshop Sessions with Council 

• March 5 –  Davenport Financial Advisors 

• March 7 –  General Government (Gov. Body, Admin, Fina, HR, IT)  

   Parks and Recreation 

  

• March 21 –  Enterprise Fund – Electric (Electricities Rate Review) 

• March 26 - Enterprise Fund – Pineville Communication Systems (PCS) 

• March 28 –  Planning / Public Works / Capital Projects 

• April 2 –  Public Safety (Police / Fire) 

• April 4 -  Debrief / Loose Ends (If Necessary) 

 

April 22, 2024 – Council Work Session OR  

April 25 or April 30, 2024 – Budget Work Session 

• Manager’s Recommended Budget presentation 

 

April (22,25,30), 2024 – May 14, 2024 – Budget Available for Public Review 

  

May 14, 2024 – Council Meeting   

• Hold Public Hearing 

 

June 13, 2024 – Council Meeting   

• Approve Budget Ordinance and Fee Schedule 

19

Item 3.



 

 

 

 

January 19, 2024 

 

To:  Honorable Mayor and Town Council 

 Ryan Spitzer, Town Manager 

 Lisa Snyder, Town Clerk 

From: Christopher Tucker, Finance Director     CMT 

RE: Council Information – Finance Report and Notifications through December 2023 

 

For the Council’s information at the January 22, 2024 Work Session, please find attached the 

finance report and notifications through December 2023. 

Staff will be on hand to discuss and present a Financial Update to Council.  

 

Notifications: None 

 

20

Item 4.



%

Budget Actual of Budget

Revenues

Ad Valorem Taxes 10,932,000$       6,476,058$      59.24%

Tourism Revenues 1,400,000            916,947            65.50%

Franchise Taxes 1,000,000            320,673            32.07%

Sales Taxes 3,071,000            1,063,286         34.62%

Storm Water Fees 450,000               159,299            35.40%

Powell Bill 260,000               161,499            62.12%

Other 2,129,000            1,621,747         76.17%

Appropriated Fund Balance 1,163,000            -                         0.00%

Transfers from Other Funds -                            -                         

     Total 20,405,000$       10,719,510$    52.53%

Expenditures

Governing Board 242,500$             139,208$          57.41%

Administration 1,574,804            816,589            51.85%

Human Resources 343,392               87,309              25.43%

IT 335,000               185,936            55.50%

Zoning 420,278               135,239            32.18%

Police 8,191,691            3,353,682         40.94%

Fire 1,586,116            730,597            46.06%

Public Works 2,157,080            1,154,128         53.50%

Powell Bill 301,752               5,838                1.93%

Storm Water 350,000               176,563            50.45%

Sanitation 735,000               310,919            42.30%

Recreation 699,617               306,598            43.82%

Cultural/Tourism 1,421,735            713,936            50.22%

Cemetery 4,000                   31                      0.79%

Debt Service 1,842,035            1,842,396         100.02%

Transfers to Other Funds -                            -                         

Contingency 200,000               -                         0.00%

OPEN ENCUMBRANCES @ 12/31/23 -                            668,268            

    Total 20,405,000$       10,627,239$    52.08%

Town of Pineville

Revenue Report (Budget vs. Actual) - General Fund

For the Month Ending December 2023 

21

Item 4.



%

Budget Actual of Budget

Revenues

PSAP Revenue -                            65,716              

Interest Earnings -                            13,648              

Fund Balance Appropriated 200,000               -                         

  Total Revenue 200,000               79,364              39.68%

Expenditures

Restricted Expenditures 200,000               105,814            52.91%

OPEN ENCUMBRANCES @ 12/31/23 -                            -                         

    Total Expenditures 200,000               105,814            52.91%

Town of Pineville

Revenue Report (Budget vs. Actual) - 911 Fund

For the Month Ending December 2023 

22

Item 4.



%

Budget Actual of Budget

Revenues

Electric Charges 14,552,000         6,738,979         46.31%

Interest Earnings 92,000                 109,980            119.54%

Misc Revenues 36,000                 47,796              132.77%

Fund Balance Appropriated 1,165,000            -                         0.00%

    Total 15,845,000         6,896,756         43.53%

Expenditures

Administration & Billing Support 603,895               256,221            42.43%

Purchased electricity 8,063,844            4,377,519         54.29%

Operations and Maintenance 7,177,261            1,787,438         24.90%

OPEN ENCUMBRANCES @ 12/31/23 -                            1,761,892         

    Total 15,845,000         8,183,070         51.64%

Town of Pineville

Revenue Report (Budget vs. Actual) - Electric Fund

For the Month Ending December 2023 

23

Item 4.



                     TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

________________________________________________________ 

MEETING DATE:   

 
Agenda Title/Category: 
 

Jack Hughes Park Expansion 

Staff Contact/Presenter: 
 

Ryan Spitzer 

Meets Strategic Initiative or 
Approved Plan: 
 

 Yes No If yes, 
list: 

PARC Masterplan 
Comprehensive Plan x  

Background: 
 
 
 
 

The FY24 Budget had money dedicated to 
producing a plan for the expansion of JHP. This 
plan would then be used to engage potential 
partners in funding the expansion. 

Discussion: 
 
 
 
 

Town Council should discuss what they would 
like as amenities associated with the expansion 
of JHP and if the current proposal fits that. The 
Parks and Recreation Committee will review the 
proposal next month. Staff will also do some 
public engagement around the plan. 

Fiscal impact: 
 
 

 

Attachments: 
 
 
 
 

1. Feasibility Study 
2. Site plan with multipurpose fields 
3. Site plan with baseball field 

Recommended Motion to be made 
by Council: 
 
 

 

 

24

Item 5.



 

Memorandum  

 

To: Mayor and Town Council 

From: Ryan Spitzer 

Date: 1/19/2024 
 

Re:      Jack Hughes Park Expansion 

 

 

 

Overview: 

 

In the FY24 Budget, Council approved to do a feasibility study for the expansion of Jack 

Hughes Park. Two proposals were submitted to Council. One proposal had two multipurpose 

fields and a baseball field. The other had a large multipurpose area that could accommodate a 

multitude of different options. Parks and Recreation staff recommended the multipurpose field 

option due to being capped out currently on activities that can use multipurpose fields and 

multipurpose fields can be used all year. Mecklenburg County Parks and Recreation also said 

they are getting more requests for multipurpose fields than baseball/softball fields. 

 

The council accepted the recommendation. The feasibility study was done after Council 

accepted for the multipurpose field option. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

.  

 

25

Item 5.



Jack D Hughes Park Feasibility Report
Town of Pineville, NC 

November 2023

26

Item 5.



Table of Contents
Summary  |  1

Environmental Assessment  |  3

01
02

PROJECT BACKGROUND, PROGRAMMING, REQUIREMENTS
SITE DATA

03
04
05
06
07

AQUATIC RESOURCES MAP
AQUATIC RESOURCES (LIDAR) MAP
FEMA FLOODPLAIN MAP
POTENTIAL T/E SPECIES HABITAT MAP
NCSHPO MAP

Concept Plan  | 8
08
09
10
11
12

13

CONCEPT PLAN 
CONCEPT PLAN ENLARGEMENT
MULTI-USE FIELD OPTIONS
MASS GRADING ANALYSIS
MASS VOLUME ANALYSIS

OPINION OF PROBABLE COST

Opinion of Probable Cost  |  13

27

Item 5.



Summary

Jack D. Hughes is a highly used community park. It is used primarily for 
sports and attracts tournaments and events from all over the county. The 
current park area, which is about 30 acres, contains 3 baseball fields 
and a multi-use field as well as bathrooms, concessions, and shelters to 
serve these facilities. These fields are a great asset to the community, but 
demand is exceeding the space provided today. 

To meet community demands for sports facilities, the town of Pineville is 
proposing to expand Jack D. Hughes Park into the 72-acre parcel to the 
south. This parcel is already owned by the Town. 

The purpose of this document is to provide relevant information to aid 
Town Council’s decision about developing this park expansion. 

As a part of this project process, the consultant (Kimley-Horn) has 
consulted with Matthew Jakubowski and Ryan Spitzer from the Town of 
Pineville. Based on the programming analysis completed with this team, 
the park should include the amenities below.

Amenities:

• Two new multi-use fields

• Two new tennis courts

• Four new pickleball courts

• New play area

• Two new shelters

• A restroom and concession building 

Additional site elements:

• Parking (approximately 210 spaces)

• Fifty foot screen buffer adjacent to residential lots per zoning code 
section 6.5.40.H

• Access road off of existing Jack D Hughes Lane

The proposed park parcels will be governed by the Town of Pineville 
Zoning Ordinance. The parcel (22149115) is owned by the Town of 
Pineville, is currently zoned Residential Mixed Use (RMX) and is in the 
Residential Overlay District. This report is a feasibility study intended to 
aid Town Council in their decision to pursue the development of the Jack 
D Hughes Park expansion. Should they choose to move forward with the 
park, the following will be needed:

Development Requirements:

• ALTA survey

• Environmental Study

• Land development permit

• Building permit for the restroom and concession building

• A lighting plan must be provided prior to approval. (6.5.40.B)

• A trip generation report must be provided and any recommendations 
from the report must be completed by the applicant (6.5.40.F)

A floodplain development permit may be needed based on survey 
information and final design. Based on the current design, no floodplain 
development permit is needed. See note 1 below for more information.

Project Background

Site Programming

Development Requirements

Note 1:
Any fill placed within the community encroachment area will require 
a flood study (sometimes referred to as a no-rise study) and a 
floodplain development permit (FDP) from Mecklenburg County. The 
flood study must demonstrate that there is no increase (0.00’) in the 
100-year base flood elevation or if there is an increase, that increase 
cannot impact another insurable structure. If there is an increase 
and no structures are impacted, a Conditional Letter of Map Revision 
(CLOMR) may be submitted to Mecklenburg County. The CLOMR 
requires public notification. This may also trigger the requirement 
for a post-construction Community Letter of Map Revision (LOMR) 
with as-built survey to be submitted and approve before a CO will be 
issued. A LOMR also requires public notification. Typical preparation 
and review times are 6-12 weeks for a flood study and FDP, 5-9 
months for a flood study and FDP with CLOMR, and 3-6 months post 
construction LOMR.

1
28

Item 5.



Park Parcels

Adjacent Parcels

Site Data

2
29

Item 5.



Shoehorn St

Short Ln

Havencrest Ln

Su
ga
rC

ree
k

Cou
nt

ry
La

ke
Dr

Shoehorn St

S
ug

ar
C
re
ek

C
ountry

Lake
D

r

S
ug

ar
C
re
ek

Sou
th

er
n

Rai
lw

ay

Sug
ar C

ree
k

Southern
Ra ilw

ay

E
de n

Cir

Eden Cir

Cone Ave

Eden
C

i r

Boatright Rd

Southern Railway

Jack D Hughes
Park

Cone
Ave

Eden Cir

Fisher St

Hill
St

James St

Lake
Dr

Lakeview Dr

16

73

75

21

321

321

77
485

Concord

Rock Hill

Gastonia

Charlotte

NotesFigure 1: Aquatic Resources Map
Jack D. Hughes Feasibility Study

Pineville, Mecklenburg County, North Carolina

May 2023

Basemap source:
2023 Nearmap Aerial Imagery

0 325 650162.5
Feet

1 IN = 325 FT

±

Legend
Property Boundary
Approximate Wetlands
Delineated from LiDAR
Approximate Streams
Delineated from LiDAR

Charlotte-Mecklenburg Water Quality
Buffers

30ft PCCO
100ft PCCO

Environmental Assessment

3
30

Item 5.



Shoehorn St

Short Ln

Havencrest Ln

Su
ga
rC

ree
k

Cou
nt

ry
La

ke
Dr

Shoehorn St

S
ug

ar
C
re
ek

C
ountry

Lake
D

r

S
ug

ar
C
re
ek

Sou
th

er
n

Rai
lw

ay

Sug
ar C

ree
k

Southern
Ra ilw

ay

E
de n

Cir

Eden Cir

Cone Ave

Eden
C

i r

Boatright Rd

Southern Railway

Jack D Hughes
Park

Cone
Ave

Eden Cir

Fisher St

Hill
St

James St

Lake
Dr

Lakeview Dr

16

73

75

21

321

321

77
485

Concord

Rock Hill

Gastonia

Charlotte

NotesFigure 2: Aquatic Resources (LiDAR) Map
Jack D. Hughes Park Feasibility Study

Pineville, Mecklenburg County, North Carolina

May 2023

Data source:
Mecklenburg County QL2 LiDAR

0 325 650162.5
Feet

1 IN = 325 FT

±

Legend
Property Boundary
Approximate Streams
Delineated from LiDAR
Approximate Wetlands
Delineated from LiDAR

Charlotte-Mecklenburg Water Quality
Buffers

30ft PCCO
100ft PCCO

Elevation (ft)

513.89

640.52

Environmental Assessment

4
31

Item 5.



Shoehorn St

Short Ln

Havencrest Ln

Su
ga
rC

ree
k

Cou
nt

ry
La

ke
Dr

Shoehorn St

S
ug

ar
C
re
ek

C
ountry

Lake
D

r

S
ug

ar
C
re
ek

Sou
th

er
n

Rai
lw

ay

Sug
ar C

ree
k

Southern
Ra ilw

ay

E
de n

Cir

Eden Cir

Cone Ave

Eden
C

i r

Boatright Rd

Southern Railway

Jack D Hughes
Park

Cone
Ave

Eden Cir

Fisher St

Hill
St

James St

Lake
Dr

Lakeview Dr

16

73

75

21

321

321

77
485

Concord

Rock Hill

Gastonia

Charlotte

NotesFigure 3: FEMA Floodplain Map
Jack D. Hughes Park Feasibility Study

Pineville, Mecklenburg County, North Carolina

May 2023

Basemap source:
2023 Nearmap Aerial Imagery

0 325 650162.5
Feet

1 IN = 325 FT

±

Legend
Property Boundary
Approximate Wetlands
Delineated from LiDAR
Approximate Streams
Delineated from LiDAR

FEMA Flood Hazard Zones
Floodway
1% Annual Chance Floodplain
Community Encroachment Area
1% Future Conditions

Environmental Assessment

5
32

Item 5.



Shoehorn St

Short Ln

Havencrest Ln

Su
ga

rC
reek

Cou
nt

ry
La

ke
Dr

Shoehorn St

S
ug

ar
C

re
ek

C
ountry

Lake
D

r

S
ug

ar
C

re
ek

Sou
th

er
n

Rai
lw

ay

Sugar Creek

Southern
Ra ilw

ay

E
de n

Cir

Eden Cir

Cone Ave

Eden
C

i r

Boatright Rd

Southern Railway

Jack D Hughes
Park

Cone
Ave

Eden Cir

Fisher St

Hill
St

James St

Lake
Dr

Lakeview Dr

16

73

75

21

321

321

77
485

Concord

Rock Hill

Gastonia

Charlotte

NotesFigure 4: Potential T/E Species Habitat Map
Jack D. Hughes Park Feasibility Study

Pineville, Mecklenburg County, North Carolina

May 20233

Basemap source:
2023 Nearmap Aerial Imagery

0 325 650162.5
Feet

1 IN = 325 FT

±

Legend
Property Boundary

Potential T/E Species Habitat
Helianthus schweinitzii,  Rhus
michauxii, and Echinacea
laevigata

*Mature forested areas within the site may represent
potentially suitable roosting and/or foraging habitat
for tricolored bat ( Perimyotis subflavus).

Environmental Assessment

6
33

Item 5.



^̂

^̂

""

^̂

$$

$$

$$

$$

$$

$$

$$

$$

"$$

"$$

$$
$$

$$$$ $$$$$$$$

$$

$$

$$$$$$$$

$$$$

$$

$$

$$
$$

$$

$$$$
$$$$

$$$
$

$$$$
$$

$$
$$
$$
$$
$$
$$

$$
$$
$$

$$
$$
$$

$$
$$
$$
$$
$$

$$
$$
$$
$$
$$

$$
$$

$$

$$
$$$

$

$$
$$

$$

$$
$$$

$
$$

$$
$$

$$
$$

$$

$$$$
$$

$$

$$$$
$$
$$
$$

$$
$$$$

$$$$$$

$$
$$
$$
$$
$$

$$

$$

$$$$
$$

"$$"$$

$$$

$$$

$$$

$$$

^̂

^̂

51
51

Gladden
Hill Ln

M
iller

Rd

Ivy Trail Way
Su

ga
r C

re
ek

Founders Park Ln

Jacks Ln

Jacks Ln

Country
Lak e

D
r

Kennys
S

t

Shoehorn StShort Ln

Gladden Hill Ln

K
er

m
it

S
t

M
a rfield

Ln

M
ea

do
w

si
de

D
r

Lochview
StMiller Rd

Rock Hill Pineville Rd

S
ug

ar
C
re
e k

Sou
th

er
n

Rai
lw

ay
Country La ke D

r

Weeping Valley Dr

M
cC

ul
lo

ug
h

C
lu

b
Dr

Loch Stone St

Gladden Hill Ln

Mount Side Way

Dorsey Dr

Havencrest Ln

Pineville
Community Park

P
utting

D
r

Club Range Dr

Burnwald
C

t

Sug
ar Creek

McCullough
Branch

Southern Railway

Juanita Dr

Fr
an

kl
in

St

Rei
d

Ln

Ridgely Green
Dr

Ya
nd

ell
St

Main St

Jack D Hughes
Park

Southern Rai lway

Cone
Ave

Lake
Dr

Park Ave

Lakeview Dr

Lynnw
ood

Ln

M
a llard

Dr

Water
Oak Dr

Parklake Dr

Hi ll
St

Olive St

James St

Boatright Rd
Belle Johnston

Community
Center

Lakeview Dr

Lynnw
ood

Ln

So
ut

he
rn

R
ai

lw
ayJuanit a

Dr

Mar i
e

W
ay C

ra
nf

or
d

D
r

Lyndon Station Dr

Main St

Pineville

Little Sugar Creek

Li
ttl
e
S
ug

ar
Cr
eek

Ke
nm

or
e

Dr

Lowry St

Jo
hn

st
on

D
r Pineville

Elementary

16

73

75

21

321

321

77
485

Concord

Rock Hill

Gastonia

Charlotte

NotesFigure 5: NCSHPO Map
Jack D. Hughes Park Feasibility Study

Pineville, Mecklenburg County, North Carolina

May 2023

Data source:
2023 Nearmap Aerial Imagery

0 650 1,300325
Feet

1 IN = 650 FT

±

Legend
Property Boundary

NCSHPO Points
^̂ NR Historic District center point
^̂ SL Historic District center point
$$ Surveyed Only
"$$ Surveyed, Local Landmark
$$ Surveyed in NRHD
"$$ Surveyed, Landmark, in NRHD
$$$ Surveyed, Gone

^̂
Local Historic District
 center point

Environmental Assessment

7
34

Item 5.



PROPOSED PARK 
AREA

PARK PARCEL

PROPOSED 
NATURAL TRAIL

EXISTING STREAM

EXISTING STREAM

COMMUNITY
 ENCROACHMENT

EXISTING PARK 
AREA

Concept Plan
Today, Jack D. Hughes is a highly used community park. It is used 
primarily for sports and attracts tournaments and events from all over 
the county. The current park area, which is about 30 acres, contains 3 
baseball fields and a multi-use field as well as bathrooms, concessions, 
and shelters to serve these facilities. These fields are a great asset to the 
community, but demand is exceeding the space provided today. 

To meet community demands for sports facilities, Jack D. Hughes Park 
should expand into the 72-acre parcel to the south. This parcel is already 
owned by the Town. Today, the area is heavily wooded and hilly. Due to 
the location of existing streams on site, as well as topographic challenges, 
only about 13 acres of the site are proposed to be used for development 
of the park.

The natural trail locations proposed in this plan are approximate and will 
change when survey is obtained.

COUNTRY LAKE D
RIV

E

Concept Plan

MAIN STREET

BOATRIGHT ROAD
EDEN CIRCLE

DOVER S
TREET

JO
H

N
ST

O
N

 D
R

IV
E

HIL
L S

TREET

RAIL
ROAD

8
35

Item 5.



SITE PLAN RENDERING CIT Y OF PINEVILLE
JACK D HUGHES PARK - NOVEMBER 2023 PINEVILLE, NC

0   13’      25’          50’                     100’               

MULTI-USE FIELD
CONCESSIONS 

RETAINING WALL

RETAINING WALL

COMMUNITY ENCROACHMENT 
BOUNDARY

EXISTING TREES 
TO REMAIN

EXISTING TREES 
TO REMAIN

RETAINING WALL

RAILROAD ROW 
BUFFER TO REMAIN

SHELTER

SHELTER

STREAM

STREAM

PLAYGROUND

TENNIS COURTS

PICKLEBALL COURTS

DOG PARK

Concept Plan Enlargement

9
36

Item 5.



360’

360’

LACROSSE FIELDS

FOOTBALL FIELDS

SOCCER FIELDS - NFHS SIZE

195’
16

0’
16

0’

33
0’

SOCCER FIELDS - YOUTH SIZE

250’

12
5’

Multi-Use Field Options

10
37

Item 5.



770-LF CUT WALLMAX. HEIGHT 16'AVE. HT ~ 10.5'9,330-SF

547.55

???

550.65

549.49

551.50

306-lf FILL WALLMAX. HEIGHT 16'AVE. HT ~ 9.0'AREA: 3,150-SF

208-lf FILL WALLMAX. HEIGHT 9AVE. HEIGHT  7'1,826-SF

551.50
550.39

546.44

550.85

538

545

541542543544
546547548

54
9

549.49

549.49

549.49

549.41

547.78

549.23

548.10

549.54

547.50

547.50

547.50

547.50

547.50

547.50

547.50
547.50

545.81

548.68

548.43

546.21

545.94

PROP. ROUGH GRADE SURFACE

2023-1120

GENERAL
MINIMUM ELEVATION 529.965'
MAXIMUM ELEVATION 561.140'
MEAN ELEVATION 548.532'

EXTENDED
2D SURFACE AREA 11.93ACRES

0
November 21, 2023200 SOUTH TRYON ST, SUITE 200, CHARLOTTE, NC 28202

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. shall be without liability to Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.PHONE: 704-333-5131 WWW.KIMLEY-HORN.COM

THIS PLAN IS CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND HAS BEEN PRODUCED WITHOUT THE BENEFIT
OF A SURVEY, CODE RESEARCH, OR CONTACT WITH THE CITY, COUNTY, ETC.

NORTH CAROLINA LICENSE No F-0102
© 2021 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC.

CONCEPTUAL GRADING
25' 50' 100' 150'

SHEET 1 of 1
NORTH

Contact:

Mass Grading Analysis

11
38

Item 5.



770-LF CUT WALLMAX. HEIGHT 16'AVE. HT ~ 10.5'9,330-SF

306-lf FILL WALLMAX. HEIGHT 16'AVE. HT ~ 9.0'AREA: 3,150-SF

208-lf FILL WALLMAX. HEIGHT 9AVE. HEIGHT  7'1,826-SF

VOLUME DATA

2023-1120
VOLUME

BASE SURFACE GIS
COMPARISON SURFACE RG

CUT FACTOR 1.000
FILL FACTOR 1.150
CUT VOLUME (ADJUSTED) 55042.77 CU. YD.
FILL VOLUME (ADJUSTED) 50754.47 CU. YD.
NET VOLUME (ADJUSTED) 4288.31 CU. YD.<CUT>

CUT VOLUME (UNADJUSTED)55042.77 CU. YD.
FILL VOLUME (UNADJUSTED) 44134.32 CU. YD.
NET VOLUME (UNADJUSTED)10,908.45 CU. YD.<CUT>

VOLUME ELEVATIONS TABLE

0
November 21, 2023200 SOUTH TRYON ST, SUITE 200, CHARLOTTE, NC 28202

This document, together with the concepts and designs presented herein, as an instrument of service, is intended only for the specific purpose and client for which it was prepared. Reuse of and improper reliance on this document without written authorization and adaptation by Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc. shall be without liability to Kimley-Horn and Associates, Inc.PHONE: 704-333-5131 WWW.KIMLEY-HORN.COM

THIS PLAN IS CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE AND HAS BEEN PRODUCED WITHOUT THE BENEFIT
OF A SURVEY, CODE RESEARCH, OR CONTACT WITH THE CITY, COUNTY, ETC.

NORTH CAROLINA LICENSE No F-0102
© 2021 KIMLEY-HORN AND ASSOCIATES, INC.

CONCEPTUAL VOLUME
25' 50' 100' 150'

SHEET 1 of 1 NORTH

Contact:

Elevations Table

Number

1

2

Minimum Elevation

-15.35

0.00

Maximum Elevation

0.00

16.41

Area
sf

271,549.1

248,199.3

Color
Volume

cyd

55,042.8

44,134.3

Mass Volume Analysis

12
39

Item 5.



Opinion of Probable Cost

Opinion of Probable Cost

Recommended Alternate:
There are several downsides to using natural turf in a 
sports field context. Injuries are more likely on natural turf, 
and the fields need more maintenance such as mowing, 
fertilizing, and seeding. They must rest after 750-1,000 
hours of play, resulting in inactive fields for several 
months of the year. There are also cost implications of the 
increased maintenance. The cost implications of artificial 
turf versus natural turf are summarized below.

Artificial Turf Natural Turf

Notes:
1. The quantities listed in this cost opinion are based on the 

conceptual plans and are subject to change when final 
design is complete.

2. Unit costs used in this cost opinion are representative of 
typical market costs as best known to the Consultant at the 
date of this estimate, and do not account for inflationary cost 
escalation

3. The Consultant has no control over the cost of labor, 
materials, or equipment, or over the contractor’s methods 
of determining prices or over competitive bidding or market 
conditions. Opinions of probable costs, as provided here, 
are made on the basis of the Consultant’s experience and 
qualifications and represent the Consultant’s judgment 
as a design professional familiar with the construction 
industry.  The Consultant cannot and does not guarantee 
that proposals, bids, or actual construction costs will not vary 
from opinions of probable cost prepared for the Owner.

4. All sports field’s cost estimates include pricing for irrigation, 
fencing, equipment, scoreboards, etc.

5. The lighting cost in this cost opinion is for the sports field 
lighting only. Site lighting will be provided through the Town. 
The lighting costs includes 8 lights for the multi-use field, 24 
for the tennis courts, and additional allowance for electric 
connections.

Capital Cost 
(per field)

Annual Maintenance 
Cost (per field)

$1,300,000 $900,000

$5,000 $35,000 - $50,000

For these reasons, we recommend using artificial turf 
instead of natural turf on the multi-use fields.

Project: Jack D Hughes
Client: City of Pineville, NC
Project #: 018036009

ITEM UNITS UNIT PRICE QUANTITY COST
Natural Turf Multi-Use Sports field 
(see note 4) LS 900,000.00$          2 1,800,000.00$      

Sports field lighting (see note 5) LS 1,150,000.00$      1 1,150,000.00$      
Tennis Courts EA 350,000.00$          2 700,000.00$          
Pickleball Courts EA 200,000.00$          4 800,000.00$          
Dog Park LS 130,000.00$          1 130,000.00$          
Mass Grading with Scraper or Large 
Equipment

CY 5.00$                      106,000 530,000.00$          

Mass Grading Haul Offsite CY 30.00$                    5,000 150,000.00$          
Retaining Wall LF 50.00$                    1,284 64,200.00$            
New fencing LF 22.00$                    1,800 39,600.00$            
Asphalt paving SF 30.00$                    63,500 1,905,000.00$      
Curb and gutter LF 25.00$                    6,500 162,500.00$          
Natural Trails LF 30.00$                    5,500 165,000.00$          
Sidewalk LF 52.50$                    4,000 210,000.00$          
Enhanced pavers SF 30.00$                    13,500 405,000.00$          
Concessions Building LS 700,000.00$          1 700,000.00$          
Shelter EA 22,000.00$            2 44,000.00$            
Utilities (Electrical, water, sewer) LS 250,000.00$          1 250,000.00$          
Storm water network LS 500,000.00$          1 500,000.00$          
Raised tree pits EA 1,500.00$              10 15,000.00$            
Benches EA 1,670.00$              20 33,400.00$            
Water Fountains EA 1,000.00$              3 3,000.00$              
Trash Cans EA 1,000.00$              10 10,000.00$            
Trees EA 350.00$                  100 35,000.00$            
Landscape material SF 25.00$                    12,000 300,000.00$          
Mulch SY 15.00$                    800 12,000.00$            
Play equipment LS 500,000.00$          1 500,000.00$          
SUBTOTAL 10,613,700.00$    
Mobilization (10%) LS 1,061,370.00$      1 1,061,370.00$      

Contingency (20%) LS 2,122,740.00$      1 2,122,740.00$      
TOTAL 13,797,810.00$    

Opinion of Probable Costs - Updated November 2023

Jack D Hughes - Park Expansion

You created this PDF from an application that is not licensed to print to novaPDF printer (http://www.novapdf.com)

13
40

Item 5.



SITE PLAN RENDERING CIT Y OF PINEVILLE
JACK D HUGHS PARK - JULY 2023 PINEVILLE, NC

SCALE: 1”=50’-0”

0   13’      25’          50’                     100’               

SOCCER FIELD

TENNIS/PICKLEBALL 
COURTS SOCCER FIELD

CONCESSIONS 

RAILROAD ROW

SHELTER

PLAYGROUND

BATTING 
CAGES

BASEBALL FIELD

DUGOUT  
BLEACHERS

Option 1 (A-B)

41

Item 5.



SITE PLAN RENDERING CIT Y OF PINEVILLE
JACK D HUGHES PARK - NOVEMBER 2023 PINEVILLE, NC

SCALE: 1”=50’-0”

0   13’      25’          50’                     100’               

MULTI-USE FIELD
CONCESSIONS 

RAILROAD ROW

SHELTER

SHELTER

PLAYGROUND

TENNIS COURTS

PICKLEBALL COURTS

42

Item 5.



 
 

Meeting Rules and Procedures 

Town of Pineville 
 

 

In order to increase the efficiency of operation of the Town Council, and to guarantee 

full and fair discussion, the Town Council of the Town of Pineville hereby adopts the 

Meeting Rules and Procedure Policy to govern all meetings of the Council.  

[Source: A. Fleming Bell, Suggested Rules of Procedure for Small Local 

Government Boards (Chapel Hill: Institute of Government; second edition, 

1998). Comments included herein are Mr. Bell's, with minor editing for 

length and clarity, as well as additional staff points.] 

 

Rule 1.  Regular Meetings 

 

The council shall hold a regular meeting on the second Tuesday of each month, except 

that if a regular meeting day is on or around a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held on 

the next Tuesday. The meeting shall be held at 505 Main Street, Pineville. A copy of the 

council's current meeting schedule shall be filed with the Town Clerk. 

Comment: Most local government councils are required by law to meet at regular 

intervals. G.S. 143-318.12(a), part of the open meetings law, requires the schedule of 

regular meetings for public bodies covered by that law to be kept on file. For Town 

governments, each public body keeps it on file with the town clerk. 

 

Rule 2.  Special, Emergency, and Recessed Meetings 

 

(a) Special Meetings. The mayor or a majority of the members of the Town Council 

may at any time call a special meeting of the council. At least forty-eight hours 

before a special meeting called in this manner, written notice of the meeting stating 

its time and place and the subjects to be considered shall be (1) given to each 

council member; (2) posted at the door of the council's usual meeting room; and 

(3) mailed or delivered (if possible) to each newspaper, wire service, radio station, 

television station, and person who has filed a written request for notice with the 

43

Item 6.



council's clerk. A special meeting may also be called or scheduled by vote of the 

council in open session during another duly called meeting. The motion or 

resolution scheduling the special meeting shall specify its time, place, and 

purpose. At least forty-eight hours before a special meeting called in this manner, 

notice of the time, place, and purpose of the meeting shall be (1) posted at the door of 

the council's usual meeting room and (2) mailed or delivered to each newspaper, wire service, 

radio station, television station, and person who has filed a written request for notice with the 

council's clerk if possible. 

 

Only those items of business specified in the notice may be discussed or transacted at 

a special meeting, unless (1) all members are present and (2) the council determines in 

good faith at the meeting that it is essential to discuss or act on the item 

 

Comment: Rule 2(a) combines the special meeting notice requirements of the 

open meetings law found in G.S. I43-318.12(b) with the idea that all board 

members must be notified of any special meetings that some of the members 

may call. Different boards will have different rules concerning who may call 

special meetings, depending on either their governing statutes or rules or on the 

board's preferences. 

 

 

The board will want to be notified of special meetings called by a few of their 

number at least as far ahead of time as members of the news media and other people 

on the board's "sunshine list" are notified (forty-eight hours) [see G.S. 143-

318.12(b)(2)]. A discussion of procedures and possible fees for inclusion on the 

"sunshine list" can be found in G.S. 143-318.12(b)(2). 

 

While written notice to the council members themselves is not specifically required in the 

statutes, such notice helps to avoid questions about whether all council members 

knew of the meeting and had an opportunity to attend. A council's actions may be 

subject to challenge if one or more of the members deliberately calls a special meeting 

in a manner that precludes participation. 

 

The second paragraph of Rule 2(a) deals with special meetings called during 

another duly called meeting. Under the open meetings law, forty-eight hours advance 

notice of the time, place, and purpose of special meetings called in this manner must 

be mailed or delivered to the news media and other persons on the council's 

"sunshine list," as required with any other special meeting. The law generally 

requires no special notice to council members of a special meeting called during 

another meeting, since presumably all members were present or had the opportunity 

to be present at the meeting where the special meeting was called or scheduled. An 

optional provision of this rule allows the council to go a bit beyond what the law 

specifies by providing notice to members who were absent from the meeting where 

the scheduling took place. 

44

Item 6.



 

Under these rules, no items may be added to the agenda for a special meeting unless 

all of the members are present, and they determine in good faith that the item to be 

added must be discussed or acted on immediately. The open meetings law requires that 

the purpose of a special meeting be stated in the meeting notice. While the law 

contains no explicit restrictions that would prevent the council from taking up 

unannounced subjects at a special meeting, this rule recognizes that there is 

probably some implicit "good faith" limit on adding unannounced subjects to the 

agenda. Recognizing such a limit avoids surprise to absent council members and to 

others who might have attended the meeting, had they known that the additional 

item would be placed on the agenda. It is especially appropriate not to consider the 

extra item if it could be dealt with at another special meeting scheduled with the proper 

forty-eight hours' notice. 

 

(b) Emergency Meetings. The mayor, or a majority of the Council Members, may 

at any time call an emergency meeting of the council by signing a written notice 

stating the time and place of the meeting and the subjects to be considered. 

The Clerk shall give written or oral notice of the meeting to each council member 

and to each local newspaper, local wire service, local radio station, and local 

television station that has filed a written emergency meeting notice request with 

the clerk, and whose request includes a telephone number. Notice to the news 

media shall be given at the expense of the party notified. 

 

Emergency meetings may be called only because of generally unexpected 

circumstances that require immediate consideration by the council. Only business 

connected with the emergency may be considered at an emergency meeting. 

 

Comment: Rule 2(b) states the requirements of the open meetings law 

concerning emergency meetings [G.& 143-318.12(b)(3)]. Because 

emergency meetings are by their nature unexpected, it is assumed that they 

will not be called during the course of another meeting but will be called when 

needed by whoever is authorized to call them (for example, the chair or a 

majority of the members of the council). 

 

(c) Recessed Meetings. A properly called regular, special, or emergency meeting 

may be recessed to a time and place certain by a procedural motion made and 

adopted as provided in Rule 14(b), Motion 2, in open session during the regular, 

special, or emergency meeting. The motion shall state the time and place when 

the meeting will reconvene. No further notice need be given of such a recessed 

session of a properly called regular, special, or emergency meeting. 

 

 

45

Item 6.



Comment: In Rule 2(c), note that a motion to recess a meeting to a time and 

place certain must comply with the requirements of Rule 14 concerning 

procedural motions. See both rules general requirements and the particular 

requirements of Motion 2 of Rule 14. It must be made in open session, because 

under the open meetings law the making of such a motion is not listed as an action 

that is permitted during a closed session (See Rule 18 concerning closed 

sessions). The open meetings law specifies that if proper notice was given of the 

original meeting, and if the time and place at which the meeting is to be 

continued is announced in open session, no further notice is required for the 

recessed session. As explained in the Comments to Rule 14, Motion 2, the 

terms "recess to a time and place certain" and "adjourn to a tune and place 

certain" are both forms of the motion to adjourn and are used interchangeably in 

these rules and in North Carolina practice. The open meetings law uses "recess 

to a time and place certain," while other statutes sometimes use "adjourn to a 

time or place certain" [see, for example, G.S. 153A-40(a)} or state the terms 

recess and adjourn as alternatives [see, for example, U.S. 160A-71(b1)1. 

Rule 3. Organizational Meeting 

At the first regular meeting in December following an election for town council members, 

the newly elected members shall take and subscribe the oath of office as the first order of 

business. As the second order of business, the council shall elect Mayor pro tem. 

 

Comment: Members of local councils are typically appointed or elected at the 

same time every year or every other year. An organizational meeting should be 

held whenever new members are selected so that they can properly qualify for 

office by taking and signing the required oath. The organizational meeting is often 

a part of another properly scheduled meeting, although it could be scheduled as a 

separate regular or special meeting. 

 

All public officers must take the oath of office set forth in Article VI, Section 7, of the 

North Carolina Constitution, unless a person is serving on a particular council as part 

of his duties on another body. 

 

Council members with questions about oaths should consult the council's attorney or 

the following Institute of Government publications: A. Fleming Bell, II, Ethics, Conflicts, 

and Offices: A Guide for Local Officials (Chapel Hill: Institute of Government, 1997) 

and Joseph S. Ferrell, "Questions 1 Am Frequently Asked: What Forms of Oath 

Should a Public Officer Take?" Popular Government 62 (Fall 1996):  

 

 

Rule 4.  Agenda 

 

46

Item 6.



(a) Agenda. The Town Manager shall prepare the agenda for each meeting with 

assistance from the Mayor and Council. Council Members or other citizens may ask to 

have an item placed on the agenda as long as it is received at least seven working days 

before the meeting. The Clerk shall prepare an agenda package that includes as much 

background information on each item as is available and feasible to reproduce. Each 

council member shall receive a copy of the agenda and the agenda package by the 

Friday prior to the meeting. The agenda shall be available for public inspection when 

it is distributed to the council members. Public requests for Agenda and Agenda 

Packet information will be charged according to the Fee Schedule established by the 

Town Council. 

A Consent Item containing a number of action items believed not to require discussion may be 

placed on the agenda. A Council Member may request an item(s) be placed on the Agenda 

before the Agenda is adopted at the beginning of each meeting. The mayor will then place the 

item on the agenda for individual action. 

Changing the Agenda. As its first order of business at each meeting, the council may by majority 

vote to add items to or subtract items from the agenda, except that the council may not add items 

to the agenda of a special meeting unless (a) all members are present and (b) the council 

determines in good faith at the meeting that it is essential to discuss or act on the item. If items 

are proposed to be added to the agenda, the council may, by majority vote, require that written 

copies of particular documents connected with the items be made available at the meeting to all 

council members. 

In addition to adding and deleting items, the council may designate certain agenda items "for 

discussion and possible action." Such designation means that the board intends to discuss the 

general subject area of that agenda item before making any motion concerning that item. 

(b) Open Meetings Requirements. The council shall not deliberate, vote, or otherwise take 

action on any matter by reference to a letter, number or other designation, or other secret 

device or method, with the intention of making it impossible for persons attending a 

meeting of the council to understand what is being deliberated, voted, or acted on. 

However, the council may deliberate, vote, or otherwise take action by reference to an 

agenda, if copies of the agenda are sufficiently worded to enable the public to understand 

what is being deliberated, voted, or acted on — and are available for public inspection at 

the meeting. 

Comment to (a) and (b): Because of the volume and complexity of the matters they 

must consider, most councils use agendas for their meetings. Some small 

government councils use agendas only to organize the materials they must 

consider and to give themselves an opportunity to study the issues before they 

meet. These councils generally allow last-minute additions to the agendas of 

regular meetings by general consent. This rule takes that approach. 

These rules require a stricter approach for agendas of special meetings, because 

of open meetings law concerns. Under this approach, items may be added to the 

agenda of a special meeting only if all members are present and the council 

determines in good faith that it is essential to discuss or act on the item 

47

Item 6.



immediately. This restriction avoids surprise and is consistent with the spirit of 

the open meetings law, although neither requirement is actually part of the law. 

See the statement of public policy underlying the law in G.S. 143-318.9. For 

further discussion of adding items to special meeting agendas, see the Comment 

to Rule 2(a). 

Small councils frequently desire to discuss an issue informally, attempting to 

reach a group consensus, before a formal motion is proposed. While standard 

parliamentary practice requires that a motion be made before any discussion 

can occur, conducting discussion first can be very useful to a small council. 

Such discussion may be especially important if the council does not hold 

agenda meetings or work sessions at which the members can discuss issues 

among themselves, before the more formal meetings at which the council 

generally takes action. This rule authorizes the practice of "discussing before 

moving" by permitting the council to designate particular agenda items "for 

discussion and possible action." If a motion is later made, discussion on the 

motion is then in order. 

Comment to (c): The last paragraph of this rule paraphrases the open meetings 

law's restrictions on acting by reference to agendas or other items [see G.S. 143-

318.13(c)]. 

Rule 5.  Public Address to the Council 

(a) Citizens may address the council during the following portions of the meeting: 

i. at public hearings; 

ii. at times specified in the agenda for public comment; at other times when the 

presiding officer may permit 

(b) Procedures for addressing council: 

 Anyone desiring to address the council must sign up with the Town Clerk 
between 6:15 pm and 6:30 pm on the night of the Council Meeting. Requests 
should be made on the form provided by the Clerk. The form shall at a minimum 
provide the requestor’s name, physical address, and mailing address. 

 The Public Comment portion of the agenda will be placed at the beginning of the 
agenda. 

 Each speaker must be recognized by the mayor as having the exclusive right to 
be heard. 

 Comments are limited to three minutes per speaker. A speaker may not give their 
allotted time/minutes to another speaker to increase that person’s allotted time. 

 Speakers must address the entire Council, not an individual council member. 
Discussions between speakers and the audience will not be allowed. 

48

Item 6.



 Speakers will be civil in their language and presentation. 

 There shall be a maximum of three (3) participants on the same subject. It is 
recommended that if there are several people who wish to speak on the same 
subject that they choose one speaker to speak for all. 

 The time allotted for Public Comment will be 15 minutes. The Council can 
choose to extend the Public Comment Period, by a majority vote, an 
additional 15 minutes for a total of 30 minutes for public comments if there are 
more than five speakers signed up. 

 Individuals who sign up but cannot speak due to time constraints will be carried to 
the next regular meeting of the Council and placed first on the Public Comment 
Agenda. 

 Any Council Member may ask the speaker questions. The time used by a Council 
Member to ask a question, or the response to his/her question, will not be counted 
against the citizens three-minute time allotment. 

 Public comment is not intended to require the Council to answer any impromptu 
questions. Action or response to items brought up during the Public Comment 
Period will be at the discretion of the Town Council. 

 Speakers shall not discuss the candidacy of any person seeking public office, 
including the person addressing the Council. 

 The public can address the Council on any issue other than public hearing items 
and those items that would be covered in closed session, which would include, 
but not be limited to attorney/client privilege, personnel, land acquisition and 
contract negotiations. 

 Anyone desiring to address the Council on a specific concern requiring more 
effective and informed action by the Council should contact the Town 
Administrator at least two weeks prior to the first Tuesday of the month for the 
topic to be reviewed for consideration to be placed on the agenda. Whenever 
possible, staff will address the concern directly, but if staff cannot address the 
issue, it will be placed on the agenda as early as practicable. The person making 
the request should provide sufficient information pertaining to their concerns to 
allow the Council to review the citizen concerns and/or request. 

 In emergency situations, the Council will accept packets of information from 
citizens speaking during Public Comment, if it is determined that the materials 
could not have been received by the Town Clerk or Town Manager prior to the 
submittal of the agenda. 

Rule 6.  Order of Business 
 

Items shall be placed on the agenda according to the order of business. The order of 

business for each regular meeting shall be as follows: 

 Changes to the Agenda 

 Adoption of the Agenda 
49

Item 6.



 Approval of the Minutes 

 Public Comment 

 Public Hearings 

 Unfinished Business 

 New Business 

 Departmental Reports 

By general consent of the council, items may be considered out of order. 

Comment: Note that the suggested order of business places public hearings and 

administrative reports early in the meeting. These are the main items that involve 

citizens and administrative officials who may not need or wish to be present for 

the entire meeting. Unfinished business under these rules consists of matters 

that are carried over from a previous meeting that was adjourned before the 

council completed its order of business and matters that were specifically 

postponed to the present meeting [see Rule 14(b), Motion 11]. 

 

Rule 7. Presiding Officer 

 

The mayor shall preside at council meetings if he or she is present. The mayor may cast 

a vote only in the event of a tie among the council. 

 

If the Mayor is absent, the Mayor pro tem shall preside. If both the Mayor and Mayor pro 

tem are absent, another member designated by vote of the council shall preside. The 

mayor pro tem or another member who is temporarily presiding retains all of his or her 

rights as a member, including the right to make motions, but must adhere to the same 

rules as the mayor in regard to casting a vote. 

 

The presiding officer shall have the following powers: 

 to recognize persons, including Council Members, to speak; 

 to rule motions in or out of order, including any motion patently offered for 

obstructive or dilatory purposes; 

 

 to determine whether speakers have gone beyond reasonable standards 

of courtesy in their remarks and to entertain and rule on objections from 

other members on this ground; 

 to entertain and answer questions of parliamentary law or procedure; 

 to call a brief recess at any time; 

 to adjourn in an emergency. 

 

50

Item 6.



A decision by the presiding officer, except those to call a brief recess or to adjourn in an 

emergency, may he appealed to the council upon motion of any member, as specified in 

Rule 14, Motion 1. Such a motion is in order immediately after a decision under those 

powers is announced and at no other time. The member making the motion need not be 

recognized by the presiding officer, and the motion, if timely made, may not be ruled out of 

order. 

 

Comment: The presiding officer has substantial procedural powers, but those 

powers are not absolute. Under this rule and Rule 14, Motion 1, any council 

member is entitled to make a motion to appeal to the other members concerning 

the presiding officer's decisions on motions, decorum in debate, and most other 

procedural matters. Such a motion replaces RONR' s "question of order and 

appeal." 

 

There are two exceptions to this right of appeal. A chair or other presiding officer 

may adjourn without the council's vote or appeal in an emergency, and he or she 

may also call a brief recess without a vote at any time, when necessary to "clear 

the air" and thus reduce friction among the members. 120NR, in contrast, allows 

a recess to be taken only with the approval of the members. 

 

Rule 8.  Action by the Council 

 

The council shall proceed by motion, except as otherwise provided for in Rules 3, 4, and 

23. Any member, including the mayor, may make a motion. 

 

Comment: Under standard parliamentary practice, a motion must be on the floor 

before a council may proceed with discussion or action, Rule 8 allows two variations, 

one based on Rule 4 and the other on Rules 3 and 23.   Rule 4 allows items to be 

placed on the agenda "for discussion and possible action." General discussion of the 

agenda item may precede the making of a motion, See Rule 4, and the accompanying 

Comment. 

 

 

Rule 9.  One Motion at a Time 

 

A member may make only one motion at a time. 

 

Rule 10.  Substantive motions 

A substantive motion is out of order while another substantive motion is pending. 

Comment: This rule sets forth the basic principle of parliamentary procedure that 

distinct issues will be considered and dealt with one at a time, and a new proposal 

may not be put forth until action on the preceding one has been concluded. 

51

Item 6.



RONR does not refer to substantive motions as such; instead, it refers to main or 

principal motions. The words substantive motion is used here to underscore the 

distinction between this type of motion and the various procedural motions listed in 

Rule 14. Basically, a substantive motion is any motion other than the procedural 

motions listed in Rule 14. A substantive motion may deal with any subject within the 

council's legal powers, duties, and responsibilities. Indeed, since Rule 8 provides that 

the council shall proceed by motion, the substantive motion is the only way the 

council can act, unless it has adopted a special rule to deal with a particular 

situation. (See, for example, the provisions of Rule 23 on appointments.) The 

procedural motions detailed in Rule 14 set forth the various options the council has 

in disposing of substantive motions. 

Rule 11.  Adoption by Majority Vote 

 

A motion shall be adopted by a majority of the votes cast, a quorum as defined in Rule 

19 being present, unless otherwise required by these rules or the laws of North 

Carolina. A majority is more than half. 

 

Comment: In a few instances, these rules require a vote equal to a majority or 

two-thirds of the entire membership of the council for adoption of a particular 

motion. Extraordinary voting requirements imposed by particular statutes are not 

specified in these rules. The council's attorney should be consulted as questions 

arise. 

 

Rule 12. Voting by Written Ballot 

 

The council may choose by majority vote to use written ballots in voting on a motion. 

Such ballots shall be signed, and the minutes of the council shall show the vote of each 

member voting. The ballots shall be available for public inspection in the office of the 

council's clerk immediately following the meeting at which the vote took place and 

until the minutes of that meeting are approved, at which time the ballots may be 

destroyed. 

 

Comment: The open meetings law allows public bodies such as small local 

government councils to use written ballots so long as they follow the procedures 

set out in G.S. 143-318.13(b) and paraphrased in this rule. 

 

Rule 13. Debate 

The presiding officer shall state the motion and then open the floor to debate. Debate shall 

follow these general principles: 

 the maker of the motion is entitled to speak first; 

52

Item 6.



 a member who has not spoken on the issue shall be recognized before 

someone who has already spoken; 

 to the extent possible, the debate shall alternate between proponents and 

opponents of the measure. 

Rule 14. Procedural Motions 

(a) Certain Motions Allowed. In addition to substantive proposals, only the 

following procedural motions, and no others, are in order. Unless otherwise 

noted, each motion is debatable, may be amended, and requires a majority of 

the votes cast, a quorum being present, for adoption. Procedural motions are 

in order while a substantive motion is pending and at other times, except as 

otherwise noted. 

Comment: Rule 2(a) reflects substantial departure from the rule in RONR. Each 

procedural motion in RONR was reviewed to determine whether it was 

appropriate for use by a small council; substantial modifications and deletions 

were the result. The following enumeration of procedural motions is exhaustive; if a 

procedural option is not on the list, then it is not available. 

 

Procedural motions are frequently used to "act upon" a substantive motion by 

amending it, delaying consideration of it, and so forth. They are in order while 

substantive motions are pending as well as at other times. 

 

In addition, as in RONR, several procedural motions can be entertained in 

succession without necessarily disposing of the previous procedural motion. The 

order of priority establishes which procedural motion yields to which—that is, 

what procedural motion may be made and considered while another one is 

pending. 

(b) Order of Priority of Motions. in order of priority (if applicable), the procedural 
motions are: 

 

Motion 1. To Appeal a Procedural Ruling of the Presiding Officer.  A decision of the 

presiding officer recognizing (or not recognizing) a speaker, ruling a motion in or out of 

order, determining whether a speaker has gone beyond reasonable standards of 

courtesy in his remarks, or entertaining and answering a question of parliamentary law 

or procedure may be appealed to the council, as specified in Rule 7. This appeal is in 

order immediately after such a decision is announced and at no other time. The 

member making the motion need not be recognized by the presiding officer and the 

motion, if timely made may not be ruled out of order. 

Comment: Rule 7 allows the ruling of the presiding officer on certain procedural 

matters to be appealed to the council. This appeal must be made as soon as 

53

Item 6.



the presiding officer's decision is announced, so this motion is accorded the 

highest priority. See Rule 7 and its Comment for further discussion of this motion. 

Motion 2. To Adjourn. This motion may be made only at the conclusion of action on a 

pending substantive matter; it may not interrupt deliberation of a pending matter. A 

motion to recess to a time and place certain shall also comply with the requirements 

of Rule 2(c). 

Comment: This motion differs from the RONR motion to adjourn in several 

respects. The RONR motion to adjourn is not debatable or amendable and can 

be made at any time, thus interrupting substantive deliberations. Here, however, 

since the number of members is small and procedures are available to limit 

debate, Motion 2 allows both debate and amendment, but specifies that the 

motion is in order only when action on a pending matter has concluded. 

If the council wants to adjourn before completing final action on a matter, it may use a 

motion to defer consideration, to postpone to a certain time or day, to refer a motion to 

a committee, or to suspend the rules. Or, in accord with Rule 2(c), it may recess (or 

adjourn) the meeting to reconvene at a specified time and place. The motion to recess 

or adjourn to a time and place certain is a form of the motion to adjourn. As explained 

in the Comment to Rule 2(c), various North Carolina General Statutes and North 

Carolina practice refer both to the terminology "recess to a time and place certain" and 

the phrase "adjourn to a time and place certain" [see, for example, G.S. 143-

318.12(b)(1), I 53A-40(a), and 160A-71(b1)1. Thus both "recess" and "adjourn" are 

provided here as options. The motion has the same meaning regardless of the option 

chosen. 

Motion 3. To Take a Brief Recess. 

Comment: This motion, which allows the council to pause briefly in its 

proceedings, is similar to the motion to recess under RONR. To avoid confusing 

this motion with the motion "to recess to a time and place certain," which is a 

form of the motion to adjourn under these rules and in North Carolina practice 

[see Rule 14(b), Motion 2, above], Motion 3 is a "motion to take a brief recess" 

rather than a "motion to recess." Since the number of members is small and 

procedures are available to limit debate, debate is allowed on this motion. A 

motion to take a brief recess is in order at any time except when a motion to 

appeal a procedural ruling of the presiding officer or a motion to adjourn is 

pending. Under these rules, the presiding officer also has the power to call a brief 

recess at any time (see Rule 7). 

Motion 4. Call to Follow the Agenda. The motion must be made at the first 

reasonable opportunity, or it is waived, 

Comment: This motion is patterned on the call for the orders of the day in 

RONR. It differs in that it may be debated; also, unless the motion is made when 

54

Item 6.



the item of business that deviates from the agenda is proposed, the right to insist 

on following the agenda is waived for that item. 

Motion 5. To Suspend the Rules. The council may not suspend provisions of the rules 

that state requirements imposed by law on the council. For adoption, the motion requires 

an affirmative vote equal to a majority of the entire membership of the council. 

Comment: This motion is generally the same as the ROM motion to suspend the 

rules, except that it is debatable and amendable, and the number of affirmative 

votes required is a majority. This motion is in order when the council wishes to do 

something that it may legally do but cannot accomplish without violating its 

own rules. It permits the council to exercise greater flexibility and perhaps 

informality than adhering strictly to the rules might allow. For example, the 

council might use this motion to allow it to consider an agenda item out of order, 

without formally amending the agenda that it had adopted. 

Motion 6. To Go into Closed Session. The council may go into closed session 

only for one or more of the permissible purposes listed in G.S. 143-318.11(a). The 

motion to go into closed session shall cite one or more of these purposes and shall be 

adopted at an open meeting. A motion based on G.S. 143-318.11(a)(1) shall also state the 

name or citation of the law that renders the information to be discussed privileged or 

confidential. A motion based on G.S. 143-318(a)(3) shall identify the parties in each 

existing lawsuit concerning which the council expects to receive advice during the closed 

session, if in fact such advice is to be received. 

Comment: The requirements for this motion are found in U.S. 143-318.11(c). 

They include extra requirements for motions based on G.S. 143-318.11(a)(1), 

and for those motions based on G.S. 143318,11(a)(3) that concern a closed 

session where the council expects to receive advice about an existing lawsuit or 

lawsuits. U.S. 143-318.11(a)(1), cited in the rule, allows closed sessions "[t]o 

prevent the disclosure of information that is privileged or confidential pursuant to 

the law of [North Carolina] or the United States, or not considered a public record 

within the meaning of Chapter 132 of the General Statutes." Part of U.S. 143-

318.11(a)(3), also cited, allows a council in closed session to "consider and give 

instructions to an attorney concerning the handling or settlement of a claim, 

judicial action, mediation, arbitration, or administrative procedure." 

Motion 7. To Leave Closed Session. 

Comment: This motion provides a procedural mechanism for returning from 

closed session to an open meeting. Under the open meetings law, public bodies 

probably must return to open session once they have concluded their closed 

session business, even if they have no other business to transact except 

adjourning the meeting. 

55

Item 6.



Motion 8. To Divide a Complex Motion and Consider It by Paragraph. The motion is 

in order whenever a member wishes to consider and vote on subparts of a complex 

motion separately. 

Comment: This motion is the same as the two motions—division of a 

question and consideration by paragraph—in RONR, except that it is 

debatable. 

Motion 9. To Defer Consideration. The council may defer a substantive motion for 

later consideration at an unspecified time. A substantive motion the consideration of which 

has been deferred expires 100 days thereafter unless a motion to revive consideration is 

adopted. If consideration of a motion has been deferred, a new motion with the same 

effect cannot be introduced while the deferred motion remains pending (has not expired). 

A person who wishes to revisit the matter during that time must take action to revive 

consideration of the original motion [Rule 14(b), Motion 14], or else move to suspend the 

rules [Rule 14(b), Motion 5]. 

Comment: This motion allows the council temporarily to defer consideration of a 

proposal. It may be debated and amended. A motion that has been deferred dies if it 

is not taken up by the council [via a motion to revive consideration, Rule 14(b), 

Motion 14] within a specified number of days of the vote to defer consideration. One 

hundred days is merely a suggested period of time. Note the restriction on making a 

new motion with the same effect while a motion remains deferred. 

 

This motion should be distinguished from the motion to postpone to a certain time or 

day [Rule 14(b), Motion 11]. A matter that has been postponed to a certain time or 

day is brought up again automatically when that time arrives. Council action (approval 

of a motion to revive consideration) is required, however, before the council may again 

consider a substantive motion the consideration of which has been deferred under 

this motion. 

 

Motion 10. Motion for the Previous Question.  

 

The motion is not in order until there have been at least twenty minutes of debate, and 

every member has had an opportunity to speak once. 

Comment: This motion differs from the motion of a similar name in RONR. The 

RONR motion is always in order, is not debatable or amendable, and requires a two-

thirds vote for adoption. Thus, it may be used to compel an immediate vote on a 

proposal without any debate on the issue. Such a device may be necessary to 

preserve efficiency in a large assembly. With a small council, however, a minimum 

period of debate on every proposal that comes before it strikes a better balance 

between efficiency and effective representation by all council members. Since 

every member will have an opportunity to speak, the debate may be ended by a 

majority vote. 

56

Item 6.



Note that this rule avoids the practice followed by some councils of allowing any 

member to end debate by simply saying "call the question," without the council 

actually taking a vote on that procedural issue. Such a practice is contrary to 

regular parliamentary procedures. In addition, it allows individual members to 

impose their will unilaterally on the group, in defiance of the principle of majority rule 

on which these rules are based. 

 

Motion 11. To Postpone to a Certain Time or Day. If consideration of a motion has 

been postponed, a new motion with the same effect cannot be introduced while the 

postponed motion remains pending. A person who wishes to revisit the matter must 

either wait until the specified time or move to suspend the rules [Rule 14(b), Motion 5]. 

Comment: This motion allows the council to postpone consideration to a specified 

time or day and is appropriate when more information is needed, or the deliberations 

are likely to be lengthy. It should be distinguished from the motion to defer 

consideration [see Comment to Rule 14(b), Motion 9]. Note the restriction on making 

a new motion with the same effect while a postponed motion remains pending. 

Motion 12. To Refer a Motion to a Committee.  

The council may vote to refer a substantive motion to a committee for its study and 

recommendations. Sixty days or more after a substantive motion has been referred to 

a committee, the introducer of the substantive motion may compel consideration of the 

measure by the entire council, whether or not the committee has reported the matter to 

the council. 

Comment: This motion is the same as the motion of the same name in RONR except 

that the right of the introducer to compel consideration by the full council after a 

specified period of time prevents using the motion as a mechanism to defeat a 

proposal by referring it to a committee that is willing to "sit" on it. 

Motion 13. To Amend. 

 

a) An amendment to a motion must be pertinent to the subject matter of the motion. An 

amendment is improper if adoption of the motion with that amendment added would 

have the same effect as rejection of the original motion. A proposal to substitute 

completely different wording for a motion or an amendment shall be treated as a 

motion to amend. 

b) A motion may be amended, and that amendment may be amended, but no further 

amendments may be made until the last-offered amendment is disposed of by a 

vote. 

c) Any amendment to a proposed ordinance, order, policy, resolution, or regulation 

shall be reduced to writing before the vote on the amendment. 

57

Item 6.



Comment: This motion is similar to the motion to amend in RONR except for the 

additional requirement to write down amendments to longer, typically more 

complex items such as resolutions or regulations. 

 

The restriction on amendments stated in part 13(a), second sentence of the 

provisions concerning this motion should be read narrowly; it is intended only to 

prevent an amendment that merely negates the provisions of the original motion. 

The intent of such an amendment can be achieved in a simpler and more 

straightforward manner by the defeat of the original proposal. Pertinent 

amendments that make major substantive changes in the original motion are 

quite proper. 

 

Some councils allow a "substitute motion" when major changes in a motion are 

proposed. Such a motion is in effect a type of amendment. To avoid confusion, 

"substitute motions" are not allowed under these rules, Al] proposals for changes in 

a motion or in an amendment are treated as motions to amend, no matter how 

major their potential effect. 

 

Part 13(b) of the rules governing this motion limits the number of proposed 

amendments that may be pending at one time to two, in order to reduce 

confusion. Amendments are voted on in reverse order; that is, the last-offered 

amendment, which would amend the first amendment, is voted on first. Once the 

last-offered of the two pending amendments is disposed of, an additional 

amendment may be offered. 

 

Part 13(c) of the rules for this motion imposes an additional writing requirement 

for amendments to other, sometimes lengthy, documents such as orders, 

policies, regulations, or resolutions. The council is free to choose the sorts of 

items for which this requirement will apply. Amendments to such documents, like 

the items themselves, should be in written form before they are voted on, both 

because of their importance and so that council members will be clear about the 

meaning of the amendments on which they are voting, Written amendments also 

make it easier to maintain the required minutes of the body accurately see  

[O.S. 143-318.10(e)]. 

 

Some councils have a practice of requiring the person making the original motion 

to approve of any proposed amendments to that motion. Such a practice is not 

recommended. Once a motion has been offered to the council, it is up to the 

council to decide whether or not it should be changed by amendment. If the 

person making the motion does not favor a proposed amendment, he or she is 

free to vote against it. And so long as the original motion has not been voted on 

and no amendment to it has passed, the introducer is free under these rules to 

withdraw it (see Rule 14). If a motion has been withdrawn, the council members 

are generally free to make their own separate motions on the same subject. 
58

Item 6.



Motion 14. To Revive Consideration.  

The council may vote to revive consideration of any substantive motion earlier deferred by 

adoption of Motion 9 of Rule 14(b). The motion is in order at any time within 100 days 

after the day of a vote to defer consideration. A substantive motion on which 

consideration has been deferred expires 100 days after the deferral unless a motion to 

revive consideration is adopted. 

Comment: This motion replaces the motion "to take up from the table" in RONR 

and was renamed in order to avoid confusion. This motion may be debated and 

amended, whereas the motion in RONR may not. If the motion to revive 

consideration is not successful within the specified number of days of the date on 

which consideration was deferred, the substantive motion expires. Its subject 

matter may be brought forward again only by a new motion. One hundred days is 

merely a suggested period of time; the number of days specified here should be 

the same as in Rule 14(b), Motion 9. 

Motion 15. To Reconsider.  

The council may vote to reconsider its action on a matter. The motion to do so must be 

made by a member who voted with the prevailing side (the majority, except in the case 

of a tie; in that case the "no’s" prevail) and only at the meeting during which the original 

vote was taken, including any continuation of that meeting through recess to a time and 

place certain. The motion cannot interrupt deliberation on a pending matter but is in order 

at any time before final adjournment of the meeting. 

 

59

Item 6.



Comment: According to RONR, this motion may be made at the same 

meeting as the vote being reconsidered or on the next legal day and may 

interrupt deliberation on another matter. To avoid placing a measure in limbo, 

these rules restrict the availability of the motion to the same meeting as the 

original vote, including any continuation of that meeting if it is recessed or 

adjourned to a time and place certain pursuant to Rule 2(c) and Rule 14(b), 

Motion 2. If a member wishes to reverse an action taken at a previous meeting, 

he or she generally may make a new motion having the opposite effect of the 

prior action. The motion to reconsider is permitted under these rules only when 

action on a pending matter concludes. 

Motion 16. To Rescind or Repeal. The council may vote to rescind actions it has 

previously taken or to repeal items that it has previously adopted. The motion is not in 

order if rescission or repeal of an action is forbidden by law. 

Comment: Each meeting of most small councils is in many respects a separate 

legal event. Unless prohibited by law, a council may at a subsequent meeting 

"undo" action taken at a previous meeting. This motion is in order only for those 

measures adopted by the council that may legally be repealed or rescinded. For 

example, it is not intended to suggest that the council may unilaterally rescind a 

binding contract. 

Motion 17. To Prevent Reintroduction for Six Months. The motion shall be in order 

immediately following the defeat of a substantive motion and at no other time. The 

motion requires a majority vote for adoption. If adopted, the restriction imposed by the 

motion remains in effect for six months or until the next organizational meeting of the 

council, whichever occurs first. 

Comment: This is a "clincher" motion to prevent the same motion from being 

continually introduced when the subject has been thoroughly considered. There is 

no comparable motion in RONR, although the objection to consideration of a 

question accomplishes much the same purpose. 

 

Because this motion curtails a member's right to bring a matter before the 

council, a vote equal to either a majority or two-thirds, at the council's option, of 

the entire membership is required. See the Comment to Rule 14(b), Motion 5, for 

an illustration of how this requirement works. 

 

As with every other motion, a clincher motion may, in effect, be dissolved by a 

motion to suspend the rules pee Rule I 4(b), Motion 5], Six months is merely a 

suggested time; the council may shorten or lengthen the time as it sees fit. In order 

to give a new council a clean slate, the motion is not effective beyond the next 

organizational meeting of the council. 

 
60

Item 6.



Rule 15. Withdrawal of Motion 

The introducer may withdraw a motion at any time before it is amended or before the 

chair puts the motion to a vote, whichever occurs first. 

Comment: RONR provides that once the chair has stated a motion for debate, it 

cannot be withdrawn without the assembly's consent. Such a procedure is 

unnecessary for a small council. However, this rule does prohibit withdrawing 

motions after they have been amended. Once a motion has been amended, it is 

no longer the same motion as was made by the introducer, so it is no longer his 

or hers to withdraw. 

 

Rule 16. Duty to Vote 

Every Council Member must vote unless excused by the remaining members of the 

council. A member who wishes to be excused from voting shall so inform the chair, who 

shall take a vote of the remaining members, no member shall be excused from voting 

except in cases involving conflicts of interest, as defined by the council or by law, or the 

member's official conduct, as defined by the council. In all other cases, a failure to vote 

by a member who is physically present in the council chamber, or who has withdrawn 

without being excused by a majority vote of the remaining members present, shall be 

recorded as an affirmative vote. 

Comment: Some local councils allow abstentions, others do not. A council may 

choose either version of this rule. Those councils that do not allow members to 

abstain may instead choose to allow members to be excused from voting in 

particular cases, typically when a personal interest of the member, as defined by 

the council or by law, is implicated by the decision being made. 

The first consequence set out under the second option for refusing to vote when 

one has not been excused is the same as that provided in G.S. 160A-75 for city 

councils in North Carolina. To govern such cases, a council may adopt this "failure 

to vote counts as a 'yes' vote" rule or some other policy such as the second 

consequence (failure to vote counts as a vote with the prevailing side). 

 

 

Rule 17. Special Rules of Procedure 

[This section is reserved for future additions.] 

Comment: Some councils may wish to provide special rules for certain situations 

(for example, requiring a vote equal to a majority or two-thirds of the entire 

membership of the council for approval of certain motions, or specifying a 

particular procedure for selecting the council's chair), either because of statutory 

requirements or other concerns. 

61

Item 6.



 

Rule 18. Closed Sessions 

The council may hold closed sessions as provided by law. The council shall commence a 

closed session only after a motion to go into closed session has been made and adopted 

during an open meeting. The motion shall state the purpose of the closed session. If the 

motion is based on G.S. 143-318.11(a)(1) (closed session to prevent the disclosure of 

privileged or confidential information or information that is not considered a public 

record), it must also state the name or citation of the law that renders the information to 

be discussed privileged or confidential. If the motion is based on G.S. 143-318.11(a)(3) 

(consultation with attorney; handling or settlement of claims, judicial actions, mediations, 

arbitrations, or administrative procedures), it must identify the parties in any existing 

lawsuits concerning which the public body expects to receive advice during the 

closed session. The motion to go into closed session must be approved by the vote 

of a majority of those present and voting. The board shall terminate the closed session 

by a majority vote, using Motion 7 of Rule 14(b). 

 

Only those actions authorized by statute may be taken in closed session. A motion 

to recess shall not be in order during a closed session [Rule 14(b), Motion 2]. 

Comment: This rule states some of the requirements of G.S. 143-318.11(c) 

for calling closed sessions. In particular, note the special requirements for 

motions to call closed sessions that are based on G.S. 143-318.11(a)(1) or, 

in some cases, on 0.5, 143-318.1 l(a)(3). No attempt is made here to set forth 

all of the provisions of the open meetings law concerning the purposes for 

which closed sessions may be held and the actions that may be taken in 

closed session; specific information can be found in G.S. 143-318.11(a). 

Note, however, that adjournment or recessing pursuant to Rule 14(b), Motion 

2, is not an action authorized by statute to be taken during a closed session. 

Minutes and general accounts of closed sessions are discussed in Rule 21. 

 

Rule 19. Quorum 

A majority of the actual membership of the council, excluding vacant seats, shall 

constitute a quorum. A majority is more than half. The mayor shall be considered a 

member of the council in determining the number on which a majority is based and in 

counting the number of members actually present. A member who has withdrawn from 

a meeting without being excused by majority vote of the remaining members present 

shall be counted as present for purposes of determining whether or not a quorum is 

present. 

62

Item 6.



Comment: A majority of the membership is generally considered a quorum 

for most deliberative bodies. The last sentence of this rule prevents a 

member from defeating a quorum by simply leaving the meeting. 

Rule 20. Public Hearings 

Public hearings required by law or deemed advisable by the council shall be organized 

by a special order that sets forth the subject, date, place, and time of the hearing as well 

as any rules regarding the length of time allotted for each speaker, and other pertinent 

matters. The special order is adopted by a majority vote. Its specifications may include, 

but are not limited to, rules fixing the maximum time allotted to each speaker; providing 

for the designation of spokespersons for groups of persons supporting or opposing 

the same positions; providing for the selection of delegates from groups of persons 

supporting or opposing the same positions when the number of persons wishing to 

attend the hearing exceeds the capacity of the hall (so long as arrangements are 

made, in the case of hearings subject to the open meetings law, for those excluded from 

the hall to listen to the hearing); and providing for the maintenance of order and 

decorum in the conduct of the hearing. 

 

All notice and other requirements of the open meetings law applicable to council 

meetings shall also apply to public hearings at which a majority of the council is 

present; such a hearing is considered to be part of a regular or special meeting of the 

council, these requirements also apply to hearings conducted by appointed or elected 

committees of council members, if a majority of the committee is present. A public 

hearing for which any required notices have been given may be continued to a time 

and place certain without further advertisement. The requirements of Rule 2(c) shall be 

followed in continuing a hearing at which a majority of the council, or of a council 

committee, as applicable, is present. 

 

At the time appointed for the hearing, the presiding officer shall call the hearing to 

order and then preside over it. When the allotted time expires, or earlier, if no one 

wishes to speak who has not done so, the presiding officer shall declare the hearing 

ended. 

Comment: Local councils may be required or may desire to hold public 

hearings from time to time concerning particular matters. The power to do so 

can probably be implied from the fact that the council was created to deal 

with matters of public concern unless a specific statute provides otherwise. 

The council should consult its enabling statutes and its attorney if it has any 

questions about its authority to conduct public hearings. 

This rule provides a procedure for calling public hearings. It also provides 

for the council to adopt rules governing the conduct of hearings and to 

continue hearings without further advertisement. These provisions are very 

similar to the authorizations in the public hearing statutes for city and county 

63

Item 6.



governing councils (0.5. 160A-81 and 153A-52, respectively) and can be 

followed by most small local government councils that are authorized to hold 

public hearings. 

 

Public hearings, like other council meetings, are also subject to the notice, 

continuation, and other requirements of the open meeting’s law, if a majority 

of the council is present at the hearing, since legally such a hearing is part of 

a meeting of the council. 

Rule 21. Minutes 

Full and accurate minutes of the council proceedings shall be kept. The council shall also 

keep a general account of any closed session so that a person not in attendance 

would have a reasonable understanding of what transpired. These minutes and 

general accounts shall be open to inspection of the public, except as otherwise 

provided in this rule. Members' and other persons' comments may be included in the 

minutes if the council approves. Each motion will be documented with the exact wording of 

the motion made. Upon the request of a Council member, the Council may be polled by 

name for each vote. 

Minutes and general accounts of closed sessions may be sealed by action of the 

council. Such sealed minutes and general accounts may be withheld from public 

inspection so long as public inspection would frustrate the purpose of the closed 

session. 

 

Comment: The open meetings law requires that full and accurate minutes 

be maintained of all official meetings of all public bodies. [G.S. 143-318.11(a)]. 

The minutes are the official legal record of council actions and are a matter 

of public record. To be "full and accurate," they must include all actions 

taken by the council and must note the existence of conditions needed to 

take action, such as the existence of a quorum. However, the minutes need not 

record the council's discussion. Particular comments by members or other 

persons may or may not be included in the minutes if the council so desires. 

Since the council usually takes action by motion (Rule 8), all motions that 

are made must be included in the minutes, along with a record of the motions' 

disposition. The rule also allows any member to request that the minutes 

include a record of how each member voted. 

 

Under the open meetings law, the council must also keep a "general account" 

of what transpires in closed sessions. This wording probably requires that a 

somewhat more detailed account of these sessions be kept than would 

typically be found in the minutes, especially if the minutes record only 

actions and conditions needed to take action. The council should consult 

64

Item 6.



with its attorney concerning what general accounts of closed sessions should 

include. 

 

Finally, the rule includes the permission granted in G.S. 143-318.11(e) to 

withhold minutes and general accounts of closed sessions from public 

inspection for as long as necessary to avoid frustrating the purpose of the 

closed session. Note that the statute permits, but does not require, closed 

session minutes and general accounts to be sealed. The council should vote 

to seal these records if it wishes to do so or is advised to do so by its 

attorney. It must also provide for their unsealing, either by council action or by 

action of an agent of the council, such as its attorney, if and when the closed 

session's purpose would no longer be frustrated by making these records 

public. For a discussion of minutes and general accounts of closed sessions, 

see David M. Lawrence, "1997 Changes to the Open Meetings and Public 

Records Laws," Local Government Law Bulletin No. 80 (August 1997). 

 

 

Rule 22. Conduct and Procedures 

(a) Informal Meetings: The council shall not meet collectively prior to a meeting, as 

to create a quorum of the council, to discuss items on the agenda or any other item 

related to government activity. The council may share information provided by town 

staff with the public regarding agenda items prior to the meeting but are not allowed 

to share information that may be confidential in nature, such as account names, 

addresses, phone numbers, personnel information, or the like. 

(b)  

Recording Devices: All public meetings are allowed to be video, or audio recorded 

by any individual, without prior permission being granted from the council. The 

recording of any conversation or meeting between public officials or employees is 

prohibited, unless all parties are aware of the recording, and have unanimously 

agreed to participate in the recording.  Only the Town Clerk is allowed to make audio 

or video recordings of Closed Session proceedings, as it is the clerk's responsibility to 

transcribe, maintain, and produce records of Closed Session meetings. 

 

(c)   

Clearing of a Meeting Room: Upon adjourning a public meeting the Town Clerk, with 

assistance from law enforcement agents who may be present, shall see that all 

visitors are vacated from the meeting room immediately following the adjournment of 

the meeting. Continued conversation among council members and staff with visitors 

is to be limited to the discretion of each council member and staff member. 

Courtesy shall be given to the time and building arrangements, as to not prolong the 

prompt closing of facilities following a meeting. During the times in which the 

meeting is not called to order, the Town Clerk will have the authority to vacate persons 

65

Item 6.



from the meeting room who are unwilling to acknowledge the procedures outlined in 

this policy. 

 

(d) 

Meeting Security: The Town will provide law enforcement protection at each of its 

public meetings. The law enforcement officer will assist the chair, clerk, and manager 

with maintaining decorum and enforcement of all policies set forth by the council before, 

during, and after all public meetings. The law enforcement officer will also protect any 

closed session proceedings of the council. While the officer may not be present 

during the closed session meeting, the officer shall ensure that the confidentiality of 

the closed session proceedings is maintained, including the vacating of individuals in 

violation. 

 

Any person who willfully interrupts, disturbs, or disrupts an official meeting and 

who, upon being directed to leave the meeting by the presiding officer, willfully 

refuses to leave the meeting may be charged with a Class 2 misdemeanor (G.S. 

143-318.17). 

Comment: The purpose of limiting Council discussion of agenda items prior to 

a meeting is to reduce the possibility of one member influencing the entire board 

before the item is discussed in open session. This also eliminates the possibility 

of any quorum forming without public notice.  Limiting audio and video 

recording protects a public official or employee from being recorded without 

their permission, which can be a violation of state and federal law, 

 

Limiting the recording of Closed Session meetings to the Town Clerk allows 

for all parties to feel as though their comments and suggestions remain private, as 

well as to protect any economic development information, attorney-client 

conversations, and personnel information from being leaked to the public. Each 

council member takes an oath to not publicly discuss closed session 

proceedings, and unauthorized audio or video of those proceedings can prove 

troublesome to an individual board member and the Town as a whole. 

 

G.S. 143-318.17 protects public meetings from being disrupted by 

members of the audience. The Chair is given the authority to remove an 

individual from a meeting for interruptions or disruptions. Rule 14(b) outlines 

objections to the removal of a member of the audience. 

 

Rule 23.  Appointments 

Council Appointments. The Town Council shall appoint members of the following 
councils, boards, and committees. 

 Planning Board 

 Board of Adjustment 

66

Item 6.



 Telephone Board 

The Town shall use the following procedure in making these appointments: 

The Clerk will advertise and solicit for vacant positions on any Advisory Board that is 

appointed by the Town Council. All applications for appointments to Advisory Boards will 

be held by the Clerk and presented to council during a regularly scheduled public 

meeting. The Council Members may add additional nominations if they wish, and 

then shall select board members from the total nominees. The Town Council shall 

vote by written ballot, with each Council Member having a number of votes equal to 

the number of vacancies on the board. The Council Members are not required to 

cast all their votes, and they may not cast more than one vote per nominee. The 

person receiving the highest number of votes shall be elected. In the case of 

multiple positions being filled at the same time, the persons receiving the most 

number of votes shall be elected. In the event of a tie, the Town Council will take a 

second vote consisting of only the tied candidates. The candidate with the highest 

number of votes will be appointed. 

The members of each committee, board, or commission shall appoint the chair of each 

individual board from among the new and continuing members of the board. The 

nominee receiving the most votes from the board shall be appointed chair. 

Rule 24. Amendment of the Rules 

These rules may be amended at any regular meeting or at any properly called special 

meeting that includes amendment of the rules as one of the stated purposes of the 

meeting, unless a statute or a rule of the body that created the council provides 

otherwise. Adoption of an amendment shall require an affirmative vote equal to a 

quorum. 

Comment: Local councils may generally amend their rules of procedure 

whenever they choose, unless a statute or a rule of the body that created 

the particular council provides otherwise. To ensure that any amendments 

adopted reflect the will of the council majority, a vote equal to a quorum is 

required to approve an amendment. 

Rule 25. Reference to Robert's Rules of Order 

Councils shall refer to the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order Newly Revised, to answer 

procedural questions not resolved in these rules, so long as RONR does not conflict with 

North Carolina law or with the spirit of these rules. 

 

Comment: RONR was designed to govern large legislative assemblies, and many of 

its provisions may be inappropriate for small councils. Nevertheless, it is a good source 

of parliamentary procedure; care should simply be taken to adjust RONR to meet the 

needs of small local government councils. 

67

Item 6.



 

Adopted this _____ day of _______________________, 2024. 

 

 

 

 

     

 ___________________________________________ 

      Mayor David Phillips 

 

 

 

 

 

__________________________________________ 

Town Clerk 

68

Item 6.


	Top
	Item 1.	Discussion Items
	WS Agenda Item - PR techs
	Reclassify Jobs in Parks and Rec
	Senior Parks Maintenance Technician
	Parks Maintenance Technician I
	Parks Maintenance Technician 2
	Classification Pay Plan 2023-2024 w hrly

	Item 2.	Discussion Items
	Realignment 12224 mtg

	Item 3.	Discussion Items
	FY25 Budget Calendar cover memo
	FY25 Council Budget Calendar

	Item 4.	Discussion Items
	Finance Report and Notifications 12224
	FY24 Q2 for 12224

	Item 5.	Discussion Items
	Cover Form_JHP Expansion
	Memo re JHP Expansion
	JDH Feasibility Report
	Jack D Hughes w baseball field
	JHP w multipurpose fields

	Item 6.	Discussion Items
	Meeting Rules and Procedures UPDATE 71423

	Bottom

